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This report was developed in line with the Public Sector
Commission’s annual reporting framework for the
2017–2018 reporting year.

Disclosures and legal compliance

While every effort has been made to vet the contents of
this report, it may contain references to, or images, of
people who are now deceased. The Department of
Training and Workforce Development regrets any offence
this might cause.
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The year at a glance

Hon Sue Ellery MLC
Minister for Education and Training
In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your information and
presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Department of Training and Workforce Development for
the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

Significant issues

ANNE DRISCOLL
Director General

Performance

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006.

Our organisation

For year ended 30 June 2018

(Accountable Authority)

Disclosures and legal compliance

10 September 2018

Appendices
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I wish to particularly thank Mr Jim Walker, Chair of the
State Training Board and members of the Board, for their
leadership and very active advocacy of the vocational
education and training (VET) sector over the year. I also
acknowledge staff and members of the Industry Training
Councils in their effective representation of industry
skills needs and Ms Kathy Hoare, Director Office of the
State Training Board and her team for their tireless work
and effective partnership over the year.

The number of people using the new website and
seeking advice through the JSCs shows that the
enhanced services are what people want. Since its

In delivering on the Government’s commitment
to enhance the quality of training, a strengthened
quality framework for private registered training
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The services of JSCs have also been enhanced through
the implementation of the new Jobs and Skills WA
website. For the first time, all State funded training,
be it through TAFEs or our 199 private providers, is
available through one searchable website. A person can
search their occupation or industry of interest to see
all of the courses available with direct links to
providers to enable enrolment. The site also integrates
information about Australian Government services,
particularly those that link to apprenticeship and
traineeship information and job vacancies – to ensure
the shared activities are easier to find for both
employers and jobseekers.

Disclosures and legal compliance

Central to the Plan is ensuring
that training is industry relevant
and geared towards jobs that
are in demand.

Significant issues

Access to relevant training has been significantly
enhanced through the roll-out of the new Jobs and
Skills Centres (JSCs), initially opening in April 2018
in five TAFE campuses across the metropolitan area.
These provide greater access to career, training and
employment information and assistance. Aboriginal
specific strategies have been implemented to ensure
Aboriginal people feel welcome at the Centres.
Consultations with contracted providers and TAFEs
are well advanced in the regions to ensure service
models optimally combine the services available and
include outreach from regional TAFE colleges.

Central to the Plan for Jobs is ensuring that training
on offer is industry relevant and geared towards
jobs that are in demand. The Department has
worked closely with the State Training Board in our
surveillance of the labour market to develop the
State Training Plan and the State Priority Occupation
List. The Department has also commenced annual
labour market reviews for each region to identify
locally specific training priorities. Commencing
with a Goldfields review (now released), work is
now underway in the Great Southern, South West,
Midwest and Pilbara regions. The reviews will be
completed over the next 12 months.

Performance

Central to the Plan is ensuring training is accessible
and relevant to all Western Australians.

launch in April 2018, the website has received over
56,370 visitors.

Our organisation

The 2017–18 year has been an intense and
productive one for the Department as the staff of the
agency focused on delivering the training initiatives
within the Government’s Plan for Jobs. The Plan
includes numerous strategies that emphasise
the importance of training in developing a skilled
workforce to support diversification of industry and
adoption of new technologies.

The year at a glance

As I review the 2017–18 year, it is good to see the
positive difference the Department has made in
making training more accessible and relevant to
all Western Australians.

Contents

The decision by Government to extend the Building
and Construction Industry Training Fund (BCITF) levy to
mining engineering works of resources companies has
also meant extensive policy work and industry liaison.

Key system enhancements implemented this year aim
to improve services, accessibility and efficiency. The
TAFE Student Management System will enable online
7 | ANNUAL REPORT 2017–18

Even closer to home, the Department conducted a
Capability Review to assess our functions, structure,
resourcing efficiency and strategic planning capacity to
ensure the Department is properly aligned to deliver the
State Government’s training priorities. The foundation
of the analysis was identification by stakeholders of how
the sector needs to be positioned to deliver the needs
of the future.
The report identifies key priorities such as greater use
of micro-credentialing (skill sets) to deliver just-intime training and investment in a workforce renewal
strategy for the Department. Following consideration
by Government the focus will turn to implementation of
agreed findings and development of a new strategic plan
reflecting the future needs of the vocational education
and training framework.
Support to, and collaboration with TAFEs has been a
rewarding element of the year’s activities. All colleges
have balanced the needs of the broader sector with
their own priorities, and Managing Directors and their

Appendices

A key feature of several policy projects including the
payroll tax changes, national partnership negotiations
and the BCITF levy has been the close cooperation
across agencies. I particularly acknowledge the officers
of the Departments of the Premier and Cabinet and
Treasury; the Office of State Revenue; Construction
Training Fund; Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science
and Innovation; and the Department of Mining, Industry
Regulation and Safety, for their constructive, considered
and timely input into these activities.

In reviewing the year, the Department’s stakeholder
engagement, improved online service delivery, focus on
skills needs and enhanced service delivery in the regions
responds directly to the recommendations of the State
Government’s Service Priority Review. The review was
established to examine the functions, operations and
culture of the public sector with the aim of driving
lasting reform.

Disclosures and legal compliance

In May 2018, the Australian Government offered a
new National Partnership Agreement on the Skilling
Australians Fund for the period 2018–19 to 2021–22
and the Department is working with the Departments
of the Premier and Cabinet and Treasury to assess
the proposal.

Support to, and collaboration
with TAFEs has been a rewarding
element of the year’s activities.

Significant issues

An interim funding arrangement for 2017–18 was
agreed between Western Australia and the Australian
Government resulting in a payment to the State of
$9.8m, a significant decrease from the final 2016–17
payment of $54m under the previous agreement.

Another major Department initiative was the
development of a new Western Australian Apprenticeship
Management System which has simplified processes to
lodge and manage apprenticeships and traineeships. The
online portal will allow 24/7 access for clients to manage
their training contracts.

Performance

To address both these issues, the Government removed
the payroll tax exemptions for existing worker trainees
effective 1 December 2017 and re-directed the savings
towards additional training places. In implementing
this change the Government signalled that the payroll
tax exemption for new trainees may also be replaced
by a targeted grants scheme. The Department has
been liaising extensively with business on the design
of the potential new grants scheme with a view to
implementation in July 2019.

As with all systems, considerable transitional effort has
been required to effect the change and I acknowledge
the commitment of both TAFE and Departmental staff in
ensuring student services remained customer focused.

Our organisation

The cessation of the Australian Government’s National
Partnership Agreement on Skills Reform on 30 June,
2017 left the State with a significant funding shortfall.
At the same time concerns emerged about the
unsustainable rise in businesses seeking to access
payroll tax exemptions through the bulk sign up of their
existing workforce into traineeship arrangements.

course enrolments and student access to their course
records and results. The new system was rolled out
across four colleges in 2017–18 with South Metropolitan
TAFE currently scheduled to complete the transfer in
January 2019.

The year at a glance

providers delivering government funded training
has been developed. The framework focuses on
improved risk assessment of private registered training
organisations and an increase in the number of on
site audits. I acknowledge the valuable contributions
by registered training organisations in reviewing the
framework and the joint commitment to ensure a robust
system that preserves the reputation of the sector.

Contents

At a Department level, I acknowledge the characteristic
resilience and commitment staff have demonstrated this
year. The entire DTWD team consistently demonstrate
professionalism and dedication and I sincerely thank
them for their support.

8 | ANNUAL REPORT 2017–18

Appendices

ANNE DRISCOLL
Director General

Disclosures and legal compliance

As I look back on my first 12 months with the
Department, I am particularly mindful of the impressive
endeavour and capacity of the leadership team. I
am most fortunate to work with a dedicated and
highly skilled executive driven by service excellence.
I acknowledge and thank them for their unwavering
commitment to the agency and the VET sector.

Significant issues

Our focus for the coming year will be a continued
emphasis on delivering on government priorities and
ensuring training aligns with community need such as in
the growing areas of aged and disability support and in
upcoming major civil construction and resource sector
projects. Fit-for-purpose training will include a new
focus on responding to industry’s request for greater
access to funding for specific skill sets relating to a
particular business need.

Performance

As I review the 2017–18 year, it is good to see the positive
difference the Department has made in the areas of
training and workforce development. Some heartening
statistics include a 5.5% increase in apprenticeship
commencements compared to 2016–17 and 84.8% of VET
graduates employed or in further study at the end of their
training. Satisfaction levels also increased, with 88.7% of
VET graduates satisfied with the quality of training.

Our organisation

Muresk Institute had another busy and rewarding year,
being established as the first public demonstration site
for Smart Farm technology in Western Australia, which
integrates digital equipment in modern agriculture.
Successful attraction of Royalties for Regions funding
helped Muresk to develop new courses and enrolments
increased by a further 351 students in 2017–18, making
a total of 2,385 enrolments.

The year at a glance

staff have worked tirelessly as one with the Department
to identify solutions to issues and share best practice.
I commend the collegiate approach and commitment to
sector-wide optimum outcomes.

Contents

Russell has extensive experience working in the State
Government and has been with the Department of
Training and Workforce Development since 2010.
Previous appointments include senior positions
leading agency-specific procurement and funding
programs, quality standards compliance for the
disability sector and several Australian and State
Government joint programs. Russell holds an
Advanced Diploma in Government (Procurement),
a Diploma in Training the Handicapped and has
received accreditation from the Australian Institute of
Company Directors.

GRAHAM THOMPSON
Executive Director, Corporate

MEETINGS
Corporate Executive met 44 times during 2017–18. Minutes of meetings are accessible to staff on the Department’s intranet.
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Graham has a Bachelor of Business and is a qualified
Chartered Accountant with the Institute of Chartered
Accountants. Graham has worked in the State public
service for over 20 years holding a number of senior
financial management roles.

Disclosures and legal compliance

Simon began his career in the public sector as a
financial analyst for Central TAFE after starting
his career in the private sector. Simon joined the
Department of Training in 1997 and has since worked
in a variety of senior roles with a particular focus on
VET sectoral planning, policy and resourcing. Simon
represents Western Australia on the national Skills
Senior Officials Network as well as being a member of
the Curtin University School of Economics and Finance
Advisory Board, ex-officio member of the Western
Australian State Training Board and a director of the
board of the National Centre for Vocational Education
and Research.

Karen was appointed to her current role in April
2014. Karen has over 25 years of State public
sector experience spanning labour market and
educational research, program and policy evaluation,
strategic policy and planning, legislative reform and
service delivery. Karen has responsibility for TAFE
International WA, administration and regulation of the
apprenticeship system through the Apprenticeship
Office, migration services and a range of other services
to the TAFE and VET sector. Karen graduated from
the University of Western Australia with a Bachelor
of Science (First Class Honours in Psychology) and has
completed a Graduate Certificate in Management
from Curtin University.

Significant issues

SIMON WALKER
Executive Director, Policy, Planning and Innovation

KAREN HO
Executive Director, Service Delivery

Performance

Anne commenced in her role as Acting Director
General of the Department in May 2017. Prior to this
Anne was the Director General of the Department
of Commerce, a role she commenced in August
2015. Anne was Executive Director of the Consumer
Protection Division for over seven years, where she
also held the statutory position of Commissioner for
Consumer Protection and Prices Commissioner. After
graduating from the University of Western Australia
with a Bachelor of Arts majoring in psychology and
commerce, Anne gained experience in numerous
public sector roles. Before joining the State
Government, Anne worked in the employment and
training sector for the Commonwealth Government
for more than 20 years. Anne is currently a member of
the Curtin University School of Management and Law
Advisory Board.

Our organisation

RUSSELL BROWN
Executive Director, Service Resource Management

The year at a glance

ANNE DRISCOLL
Director General
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ENROLMENTS

OF THE WORKING
AGE POPULATION
PARTICIPATED IN
TRAINING

Our organisation

APPRENTICES AND TRAINEES
COMMENCEMENTS

19,391

The year at a glance

6%

COMPLETIONS

12,169

31,783

*some enrolments fall under mul�ple categories

INTERNATIONAL ENROLMENTS

South Metropolitan TAFE’s Murdoch campus’
new $46.5 million specialist training facili�es
oﬃcially opened
Registered training organisa�on (RTO) auspicing
research tool released to assist students to partner
with quality RTOs
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79.8% of employers sa�sed with the quality of
training. Increased from 78.9% in 2016–17
There was a 7% increase in enrolments by students
iden�fying as Aboriginal

Appendices

South Regional TAFE’s Esperance campus received
more than $17.8 million in capital works to provide
industry standard training facili�es

88.7% of VET graduates sa�sed with the quality
of training. Increased from 87.4% in 2016–17

Disclosures and legal compliance

ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2017–18

Significant issues

4,654

Performance

IN TRAINING

(as at 30 June 2018)
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The year at a glance

Responding to changing priorities.

The Department’s functions are aligned to the Strategic
Plan 2014–18 which responds to changing priorities
of the training sector and labour market. Performance
is measured through an outcome based management
framework.

The Vocational Education and Training Act 1996 is
administered by the Minister for Education and Training
with the assistance of the Department.

The Department will commence a review of the agency’s
Strategic Plan to ensure it aligns with the current State
Government priorities.

Structure

Responsible Minister
The Department was responsible to the Minister for
Education and Training, Hon Sue Ellery MLC.

Enabling legislation
The Department was established on 30 October 2009,
under section 35 of the Public Sector Management
Act 1994.

Disclosures and legal compliance

The Department is structured around a policy/purchaser/
provider model, which ensures transparency and
accountability. Each of the Department’s desired outcomes
contributes to the Government goal Future Jobs and Skills:
grow and diversify the economy, create jobs and support
skills development.

Significant issues

As an interim measure, the Department developed a list
of Strategic Priorities for 2018 to inform operational and
business planning processes. These priorities will form the
basis for the upcoming review of the Strategic Plan.

*The Department complies with a range of national and State
legislation. Please see page 121 for the full list.

Performance

Administered legislation*

Our organisation

Strategies

Appendices
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The Department considered the recommendations of two
significant State Government reviews:

• increasing the role of industry through the Australian
Industry and Skills Committee to support innovation,
jobs and growth;

• Service Priority Review – Working Together: One public
sector delivering for WA October 2017.

• Digital WA: Western Australian Government Information
and Communications Technology (ICT) Strategy
2016–2020; and

Performance

• the VET Student Loans scheme;
• strengthening VET regulation to improve the quality of
VET delivery;
• improving VET data collection to inform policy design
and consumer choice;
• the review of the Australian Qualifications Framework;
• the national strategy for international education;
• the review of the National Vocational Education and
Training Regulator Act 2011;
• training package reform; and

Implementing the State
Government’s Plan for Jobs was
a key priority.

Significant issues

• strategies to improve apprentice and trainee numbers;

Our organisation

During 2017–18, the Department advised on the
negotiation of the Australian Government’s new National
Partnership on the Skilling Australians Fund. Input and
advice was also provided on other key reforms and
priorities for Western Australia, including:

The year at a glance

Western Australia is represented by the Minister for Education
and Training and senior Department officials on national
committees related to training and workforce development.

• workforce planning for the National Disability Insurance
Scheme.

• implementing the State Government’s Plan for Jobs
(see page 10);
• taking the administration of apprenticeships and
traineeships into a new digital phase, with the roll out
of the Western Australian Apprenticeship Management
System 24 hour online portal;
• a new system which aims to deliver improved student
self-service capabilities;

Disclosures and legal compliance

At a State level, key priorities for the Department were:

• the Jobs and Skills WA website which was developed as
a digital one-stop shop; and

17 | ANNUAL REPORT 2017–18

Appendices

• developing annual regional labour market reviews for
each region to inform development of region specific
occupation lists.

Contents

Structures were established which enabled the network
of Industry Training Councils to provide more direct
industry advice to the State Training Board and the
Department. The VET Qualifications Register for Secondary
Students was updated in collaboration with the Industry
Training Councils.

The Department worked with the Department of Education
to develop a pilot program to increase secondary students’
access to fee-free TAFE places in 2019 and to produce a
registered training organisation (RTO) research tool to
assist schools to partner with quality RTOs.

Continuing partnerships with the TAFE colleges enabled
the Department to transition its services to establish
Jobs and Skills Centres within TAFE colleges across
Western Australia.

Significant issues

TAFE colleges

Performance

Department of Education

Our organisation

Industry Training Councils

The year at a glance

During 2017–18, the Department worked closely with its
partners to develop and implement priority strategies.

In 2017–18, Jobs and Skills Centres were established in five
TAFE college locations in the metropolitan area.

The Department supported the office of the Minister for
Education and Training in facilitating the appointment
of members to the councils and in TAFE Governing
Council meetings.
In 2017–18, 31 new members were appointed and
26 members were re-appointed.

Training Accreditation Council
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There was ongoing liaison with the Training Accreditation
Council on priority issues such as the Quality Framework
for publicly funded private RTOs and the return of craft
industry apprenticeships to Western Australia.

Disclosures and legal compliance

TAFE Governing Councils

Contents

The year at a glance

During 2017–18:

Vanessa Davies

Chris Hall

Cobie Rudd

Wayne Muller

Meredith Hammat

Ray Sputore

Angela Bond

Performance

The Office of the State Training Board has a strategic
function within the Department. Through the Office,
the Department supported a significant revamp of
the State Training Board and network of Industry
Training Councils to ensure that their structures and
input provided a direct link between industry needs
and government economic direction.

Jim Walker

Significant issues

During 2017–18:
Four new State Training Board members
appointed and two re-appointed
Industry consultation sessions held in Perth and
the regions

Training council structures reviewed and
opportunities identified to strengthen industry
representation and reduce potential conflicts
of interest
Consultation and strategies developed for WA
Labor Plan for Jobs
New State Training Board website and branding
developed

Disclosures and legal compliance

Two consultation papers published on “TAFE Jobs
and Skills Centres” and “Growing apprenticeships
and traineeships”

Our organisation

The State Training Board has
an important role in supporting
the Plan for Jobs, ensuring
quality training is aligned with
industry needs and future
workforce requirements.

WA State Training Plan 2017–2020 endorsed by
the Minister for Education and Training

Appendices

Consultations to develop a plan to support the
social assistance and allied health workforce
Fran Kirby

Meet the Board
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APPRENTICESHIP COMMENCEMENTS

Building and construction
1,239

Automotive
1,386
Metals, manufacturing and services
1,373

Total number of apprenticeship
commencements in 2017–18
6,682

Mining
2,053
Wholesale, retail and personal services
1,124
Community services, health and education
1,173
Total number of traineeship
commencements in 2017–18
12,709

During 2017, there were:
• 3,671 enrolments in pre-apprenticeship courses, an
increase of 42 enrolments from 2016;
• 232 enrolments in the Aboriginal school-based training
program (ASBT) institutional based training pathway; and
• 6,980 secondary students who undertook training.
During 2017–18, there were:
• 2,192 apprenticeship and traineeship commencements
with group training organisations;

• 1,908 commencements in school-based
apprenticeships and traineeships.
21 | ANNUAL REPORT 2017–18
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• 302 commencements in the ASBT employment based
training pathway; and

Disclosures and legal compliance

Wholesale, retail and personal services
541

Hospitality and tourism
2,072

Significant issues

Electrical
1,195

Finance, property and business services
2,432

Performance

In 2017–18, apprentices and trainees were employed in
key industry areas:

TRAINEESHIP COMMENCEMENTS

Our organisation

Quality assurance, compliance and more flexible training
options were all priorities. Increasing job opportunities
through apprenticeships and traineeships was central to
growing the skill base to support Western Australia’s economy.

The year at a glance

During 2017–18, the Department developed strategies to
re-invigorate Western Australia’s training system to make
sure it was responding to evolving industry needs.

Contents

In 2017–18, the State Government launched a major digital
strategy to promote Perth as a study destination in China. Since
the Premier’s delegation to China, the Managing Directors from
North Metropolitan TAFE and South Metropolitan TAFE have
travelled to China and engaged with their counterparts.

»» South Metropolitan TAFE (SMT) and the Zhejiang Institute
of Mechanical Engineering signed a contract for the offshore
training delivery of the SMT oil and gas program; and

(English Language Intensive Courses
for Overseas Students),

and 842 STUDENTS
in public schools

Justine

1890 likes
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Worked with TAFE colleges
to arrange three new
commercial contracts and
supported five renewed
overseas commercial contracts

Appendices

Friendly
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Promoted international
education in Western
Australia to 18 COUNTRIES
which are priority markets

Significant issues

»» North Metropolitan TAFE signed a Memorandum of
Understanding to underpin future cooperation with the
Shanghai Harbour School relating to hospitality training
opportunities.

Enrolled 3,376
vocational education and
training, 436 ELICOS

Performance

A meeting was facilitated by the Zhejiang Provincial
Government Education Department to explore transnational
education. Outcomes included:

Our organisation

Conducted 239 offshore
and 157 onshore
promotional activities

The year at a glance

The Department has been working
with the Department of Jobs, Tourism,
Science and Innovation to further develop
the State Government’s international
education strategy for Western Australia.

Contents

There are no university pathway options similar to TAFE
WA UniPathways in China. If a student’s English is weak
TAFE is a good university pathway option.

Disclosures and legal compliance

I packaged my TAFE WA UniPathway course with the
university bachelor degree on the same visa. It was
convenient to organise it all at the same time because I
already knew which course I wanted to pursue.
I received eight university advanced credits for my
TAFE qualifications.

Significant issues

University course: Bachelor of Business, Edith Cowan University

Performance

Yingjun Lin | China
TAFE course: Diploma of Accounting

All of the things I learned at TAFE helped to prepare me
for university. After completing my TAFE WA UniPathway
course and transitioning to university I felt better prepared
than some of my university classmates. I received three
high distinctions and one distinction in my first semester
at University.

Our organisation

I made connections with local Australian students and my
English proficiency has improved significantly during my
TAFE course. TAFE also has small classes and the lecturers
have more time and focus on the students. The teachers
were nice and friendly, the courses were industry-related
and practical. The TAFE course was good enough to get
an entry level job in a particular industry. I work one day a
week as a bookkeeper/office person for a small company.

The year at a glance

I travelled around Australia to Sydney, Melbourne, Adelaide
and Perth before I decided to study in Perth. Compared
with other cities, I prefer Perth. It is totally suitable for
me because I want to focus on my study. I like the blue
sky, fresh air, the beautiful and clean river and ocean. The
lifestyle in Perth is relaxing. Now I have gotten used to the
lifestyle in Perth and I’m enjoying my life here.

Appendices
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• Enrolled a total of 2,385 students (both full time and
short course students) – an increase of 351 from the
previous year

• Purchased new equipment and installed digital
technology and sensors
• Attracted Royalties for Regions funding for the
development of new courses

• Hosted the Drone Vs Dog Trials which attracted 180
competitors from 9 schools

Performance

• Assisted Curtin University to develop and promote
an Associate Degree in Agribusiness to be offered at
Muresk from 2019

• Established Muresk as the first public demonstration
site for Smart Farm technology in Western Australia

Our organisation

Agricultural training at Muresk Institute

The year at a glance

Muresk Institute’s course enrolments
continued to rise.

Significant issues
Disclosures and legal compliance
Appendices

Photo caption: Drone VS Dog 2018 winner Archie Le Grice and Muresk Institute Managing Director Prue Jenkins
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• The VET Qualifications Register for Secondary Students
was updated in collaboration with the Industry Training
Councils and released.

• Worked with the Department of Education and the
Training Accreditation Council to develop a registered
training organisation (RTO) research tool to assist
schools to partner with quality RTOs.

Performance

• VET for secondary students had outstanding results at
the WorldSkills Australia National Championship, with
Western Australia winning 11 secondary school medals
and taking out the VET in Schools Shield for the first
time.

• Worked with the Department of Education to frame a
pilot program to increase secondary students’ access to
fee-free TAFE places in 2019.

Our organisation

VET delivered to secondary students

The year at a glance

There were 6,980 enrolments in Department funded
VET programs delivered to secondary students.

Significant issues
Disclosures and legal compliance
Appendices
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The year at a glance

For the first time since its inception, the VET in
Schools Shield was won by Western Australian
competitors at the WorldSkills Australia
National Championship earlier this year. The
‘Shield’ explains what it means to have WA
engraved on its well-polished surface…

Our organisation

Q. What are you?
A. I am the VET in Schools (VETiS) Perpetual Shield, a trophy
awarded by WorldSkills Australia at the National Championships
to the state with the best performance in VETiS categories.
Q. How long have you been in the VET sector?

Performance

A. I was inaugurated in 2001. Since then I have only ever been
won by New South Wales. Until now.
Q. How does the award system work?

Significant issues

A. The winners are determined by taking the total number of
marks from every competitor by state/territory, and dividing the
total combined score by the number of competitors to reach
an average score. The highest average score wins. So, it is not
just the medal winners that help secure the shield, every WA
competitor contributed to my visit.
Q. What have you been up to since arriving in WA?
A. I have been to a few schools to share the story of Team WA’s
David-and-Goliath style win.
GILMORE COLLEGE, ROCKINGHAM | Josh Semper
Silver medal | Metals and engineering

•

BUNBURY CATHOLIC COLLEGE | Caitlin Carmody
Gold medal | VETiS Hairdressing

•

CHRISTIAN BROTHERS COLLEGE, FREMANTLE
Silver medal | Mark Quattrini | Plumbing
Gold medal | Kaleb Milsom | Metals and engineering

•

ST NORBERT COLLEGE
Gold medal | Michael McLevie | VETiS Business services
Gold medal | Matthew Hodges | VETiS Information technology

Disclosures and legal compliance

•

Q. What is next for you as the VETiS Shield?
A. Next up I plan to visit Brandi Burnett from Pinjarra Senior
High School who won the gold medal for VETiS Food and
beverage. I will be on display at all winning schools to promote
WorldSkills VETiS competitions.

A. It is a bit early to say. I like it in WA. The people are skilled, the
training is excellent, the beaches are great and it seems like a
great place to stay… maybe for the next 17 years!
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*Note: VETiS competitions, VETiS category names and
the VETiS Shield are terms used by WorldSkills Australia
who own and operate the competition program.
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Q. And after that?

Contents

Western Australia’s defence industry is campaigning to
enhance and promote careers in the defence industry in
the State’s schools and TAFEs. The Department assisted
South Metropolitan TAFE to develop a business case for
a specialist welding training centre and progress leasing
arrangements. The Department prepared and submitted a
draft defence workforce development plan and report for
consideration by the Minister for Education and Training
and Minister for Defence.

In response to significant changes to Western Australia’s
aged care, disability, allied health and community services
sectors, the Department has supported the State Training
Board’s industry consultations on the Social Assistance and
Allied Health Workforce Project. A survey was administered
to stakeholders in the industry seeking input into the plan.

The Department has been working closely with
stakeholders to develop campus infrastructure required
to support METRONET and delivery for the transport and
construction industries.

Construction

In March 2018, the State Government launched the
Western Australian Industry Participation Strategy (WAIPS)
which will come into effect in October 2018. Under the
WAIPS, businesses undertaking government work will
have to report the number of apprentices and trainees
involved in the project. The Department is working with
the Department of Jobs, Tourism, Science and Innovation
to identify the best approach to align the revised policy
with the WAIPS.
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The WA VET sector is providing training in a range of
mining industry jobs. As part of this commitment the State
Government allocated funding to upgrade the South Regional
TAFE Collie campus. The Department has been working with
TAFE to undertake industry stakeholder consultation to define
industry needs. Collie TAFE has received a planning allocation
of $0.2m for the 2017–18 financial year.
Through a strong partnership between TAFE and Rio Tinto
a new training program will be created to prepare workers
for industry advancements, innovation and automation.
The Department is working with South Metropolitan TAFE
on the development of the program which is expected to
be delivered for the first time in 2019.

Appendices

The Department consulted with key industry associations
in the resources sector on the proposal to remove the
exemption of the resources sector from the Building and
Construction Industry Training Fund levy. The Department
has been assisting in the preparation of drafting
instructions on the proposed amendment.

Mining

Disclosures and legal compliance

Extensive industry consultation was undertaken in
reviewing the current Government Building Training Policy
to align the policy settings with the Government’s Plan for
Jobs election commitments.

In 2015, contracts for delivering qualifications in
small craft industries were awarded to RTOs in the
eastern states. Under the Plan for Jobs, craft industry
apprenticeship training will again be provided in WA
enabling apprentices and trainees to train in WA rather
than travel interstate. The Department has been working
with North Metropolitan TAFE to finalise a business case
to upgrade existing facilities. A launch for the return of
craft industries to WA was held in April with the Minister
addressing a gathering of industry representatives. Since
then, employers have been able to contract apprentices
in Wood Machining, Vehicle Trimming, Floor Covering,
Textile Fabrication, Upholstery and Furniture Finishing.
Training at the TAFE is planned to have been commenced
in each trade before mid-October 2018, subject to Training
Accreditation Council scoping approval.

Significant issues

Transport

Craft industries

Performance

Social assistance and allied health

Our organisation

Defence

The year at a glance

During 2017–18, the Department’s strong industry liaison
continued and particular emphasis was placed on industries
highlighted as priorities in the Plan for Jobs.

Contents

Significant issues

The State Government made a commitment that the State
priority occupation list would be made more responsive
to the employment needs of the regions. To ensure that
regional level data was available, work commenced on
developing annual regional labour market reviews for
each region to inform development of region specific
occupation lists. This initiative will also comply with
the State Government’s Service Priority Review which
recommends an increase in focus on community needs
and the need for better consultation and engagement with
community stakeholders.

Performance

The plan contains strategies that will contribute to
achieving the State Government’s major goals and visions
for the Western Australian economy and labour market.

Industry Workforce Development Plans are based on
extensive research undertaken by each Industry Training
Council. They provide a targeted focus for responding
to industry specific workforce issues and offer a
comprehensive industry profile section with industry and
employment analysis and trends, including labour and skills
demand. In 2017–18, the Plans were replaced by an annual
snapshot of industry workforce priorities.

Our organisation

The State Training Plan identifies the current and
future training and skills development needs of Western
Australia’s industries.

The year at a glance

Effective planning for current and future
industry needs.

Disclosures and legal compliance
Appendices
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• the State priority occupation list (SPOL) identifies
occupations which are considered critical or
experiencing unmet demand; and

The Department continued to ensure that national
training products responded to Western Australia’s industry
needs and coordinated WA’s response to national training
package policy, development, review and reform. Advice
and assistance was provided to industry stakeholders on
transitions to new training products, including those relating
to apprenticeships and traineeships.

Released the annual SPOL for 2017 which will
be used as primary evidence for purchasing
of training and informing migration policy and
workforce planning. Work commenced on the
SPOL for 2018 which is due for release later
in 2018.

Introduced the new WASMOL in July 2017
which listed 18 specialist medical occupations.

Led the process for establishing nominal hours
for training package products in Western
Australia - 15 nominal hours guides.

Disclosures and legal compliance

Engaged with stakeholders to ensure Western
Australian industry requirements were
adequately considered in training package
development - 250 formal contacts.

Significant issues

• the Western Australian skilled migration occupation
list (WASMOL) targets occupations where there is
evidence of unmet demand and a need to attract
overseas workers.

Undertook a comprehensive review of
methodology to develop the SPOL, bringing
in new data sources and new data treatment
to understand factors affecting the State’s
labour market.

Performance

• the priority industry qualifications list shows State
Government priority qualifications which attract
guaranteed training subsidies;

During 2017–18, the Department:

Our organisation

Three key lists are compiled to inform and guide workforce
planning and development in Western Australia:

The year at a glance

During 2017–18, the Department continued to work
on strategies to respond to the training and workforce
development needs of industry.

Appendices
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• A new Jobs and Skills WA website for all information
related to vocational education and training courses,
jobs, career development and workforce development
was released.

• 1,561 apprentices and trainees received funds through
the Travel and Accommodation Allowance, an increase
from 1,442 in 2016–17.
• 160 scholarships awarded to 16 employers to employ
women undertaking an apprenticeship or traineeship in
non-traditional areas.

In 2017–18, the State Government
on average subsidised around
85% of training costs.

Significant issues

Training has become more accessible and focuses on
skills in demand through the following initiatives and
policy settings:
• Five metropolitan Jobs and Skills Centres opened within
TAFE colleges.

• Specialist career, training and jobseeker support
including support for Aboriginal students, jobseekers
and employers.

Performance

During 2017–18, the Department started to consolidate
customer-facing activities related to training and workforce
development into the Jobs and Skills WA brand, to align
with the State Government’s Plan for Jobs initiative to
help create new jobs for Western Australians. Training was
seen as critical in delivering employment outcomes for
the community and supporting growth and diversity in the
State’s economy.

• Contracting processes for publicly funded training
providers streamlined and strengthened.

Our organisation

Jobs and Skills WA

The year at a glance

Jobs and Skills WA – renewing the focus on vocational
education and training and jobs.

• No increase to TAFE fees and charges for 2018.

• Significant subsidies for foundation skills courses.
• Access to VET student loans continued.
• Increased the concessional fee discount from 50%
to 70% in eligible courses.
• Access to concessional fees for eligible students
in non-VET Student Loan Diploma and Advanced
Diploma courses.
• Continuing fee caps for Diploma and Advanced Diploma
courses and secondary school aged students not
enrolled at school.
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• Prioritising apprenticeships, eligible traineeships and
priority industry qualifications for higher
course subsidies.

Disclosures and legal compliance

• Higher subsidies and lower fees are available for
State priority qualifications.

Contents

The year at a glance
Our organisation
Performance

Jobs and Skills Centres

The Jobs and Skills WA website was developed as a digital
one-stop shop. For the first time, all information about
Western Australian training, careers and jobs can be
accessed from this one location.

The establishment of metropolitan Jobs and Skills Centres
(JSCs) saw access to career, training and employment
services significantly increased when TAFE colleges became
one-stop shops for students, local businesses, employers
and industries. Five new TAFE Jobs and Skills Centres
opened in the Perth metropolitan area and a regional
network of centres is under development.

• Resources for employers are available, including
free information and practical tools to improve
their business.
• The free jobs board helps people looking for work. It
also gives employers a place to advertise job vacancies
in their business.
• The Aboriginal jobs board helps employers who
specifically want to encourage applications from
Aboriginal jobseekers.

Each of the JSCs is staffed by people who can provide
free professional and practical advice on training and
employment opportunities including careers advice, and
apprenticeship and traineeship information.
Planning for the statewide network of JSCs was undertaken
with significant stakeholder consultation to design region
specific models of service delivery that focus on the needs
of local communities.

Disclosures and legal compliance

• Course search enables users to search publicly funded
training courses and qualifications available through
both TAFE colleges and private training providers.

Significant issues

The Jobs and Skills WA website

Since its launch in April 2018:
• the website has received over 56,370 visitors; and
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• the jobs board has been viewed over 148,070 times.

Contents

Metropolitan

Regional
Jobs and Skills Centres will be opening progressively in
regional areas of Western Australia throughout 2018–19.

The year at a glance

Five Jobs and Skills Centres opened in April 2018.

Specialist career, training and jobseeker support, as well
as specialist services for Aboriginal people and employers,
will continue to be available in the meantime through
contracted service providers.

Our organisation
Performance

Significant issues
Disclosures and legal compliance
Appendices
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The year at a glance

BAILEY HISLOP

• Training or course
information on 402 occasions

• Apprenticeship or traineeship
assistance on 201 occasions
• 93% of customers
were satisfied with the
Department’s career services
• 85.2% of jobseekers were
satisfied with services
for Aboriginal clients
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Mariana helped Bailey to communicate the kind of tasks he
enjoyed and advised him on what careers may suit him. With
the support of the JSC, Bailey applied for several options and
was fortunate to receive an offer in his preferred choice, a
Certificate in Engineering - Technical.

• Career guidance advice
on 655 occasions

Significant issues

Sixteen year old Bailey Hislop and his parents came into the
Balga Jobs and Skills Centre (JSC) to discuss TAFE course
options as an alternative to continuing Year 11. During
his appointment, Bailey and his parents met with Mariana
Joseph, JSC career advisor, who provided extensive career
advice and course information.

• Aboriginal specific
employment advice and
information on 131 occasions

Performance

Bailey Hislop

From April to June 2018, the
five metropolitan TAFE Jobs
and Skills Centres provided:

Our organisation

“Visiting the JSC was a rewarding
experience for me and my parents. JSC
career advisor Mariana was attentive
and skilled at explaining course options
and content and also helped with my
registration. JSC team members clearly
have a passion for their work. I very much
appreciated being invited to attend the
opening ceremony at the Balga TAFE. It was
another example of how committed the JSC
team members are to customer service.”

Appendices

Bailey Hislop and Mariana Joseph
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ANNA HERRERA

• Recorded 20,034 career
client contacts
Contracted specialist career centres
recorded client contacts of:
• Ex-offenders – 1,111
• Culturally and linguistically
diverse – 1,047

From July 2017
to March 2018
Department Aboriginal Workforce
Development Centres:
• Assisted 159 Aboriginal jobseekers
into employment or training
• Assisted 296 employers with their
Aboriginal employment strategies
Contracted Aboriginal Workforce
Development Centres:
• Assisted 128 Aboriginal jobseekers
into employment or training
• Assisted 38 employers with
their Aboriginal employment
strategies
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From left to right: Emily Hamilton MLA, Terry Healy MLA, Western Australian
Premier Mark McGowan, Anna Herrera, Education and Training Minister
Sue Ellery and Chris Tallentire MLA
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She was also invited to participate in the official launch of
the Jobs and Skills Centres at the Thornlie campus with the
Western Australian Premier and Minister for Education and
Training. Anna thanked the Premier for this great initiative,
which has made career services more accessible to people in
the community.

• Provided 15,041 career
guidance sessions

Significant issues

Anna was provided with career advice and appropriate
referrals and was also referred to Bizlink Quality
Employment who provide employment assistance for people
with disabilities.

• Undertook 11,990 initial
assessments to identify
client needs

Performance

Anayanci (Anna) Herrera, originally from El Salvador, is a
paraplegic looking to return to the workforce after 17 years.
Anna recently called into the Thornlie JSC looking for career
guidance. She expressed interest in a broad range of careers
including Medical Reception.

Contracted career centres:

Our organisation

Anna Herrera

From July 2017
to June 2018

The year at a glance

“Senior Client Engagement Officer Martin
Turnbull gave me lots of information
about occupations and job prospects and
advised me on training programs such as
traineeships. I was also connected with
AMA Training Services and I am now
enrolled in a Medical Reception Course.
I am sure this course will give me the skills
and experience I need to work in
this industry.”

Contents

“I found the service of the JSC
invaluable. The staff could not have
been more helpful. JSC career advisors
Janina Connor and Des Duguid were
informative and reliable and made
my experience at the Balga JSC very
productive. I rate the whole experience
with the JSC as 100% effective.”

“Finding the right, motivated staff
member who is willing to learn has
been difficult at the best of times. Now,
with the assistance of the JSC, we are
able to find the right candidate for
the position.”
Edward Owen, Executive Director,
The Firm – Hair Body and Soul.

Veronica Jeredis

Balga JSC staff helped Veronica with her application
and gave her access to the JSC public use computer to
complete her online assignment.

Since the centre opened in April 2018, over 20
students found employment with local organisations
in industries ranging from hairdressing, logistics and
warehousing and engineering. The quality of support
and services provided by the centre is reflected in the
positive feedback from both employers and schools.

Performance

Veronica Jeredis contacted Balga JSC to attend an
information session on the Australian Public Service
Indigenous Apprenticeship Program.

The Rockingham JSC supports employers and students
through the traineeship process.

Our organisation

JSC SUPPORT
The year at a glance

VERONICA JEREDIS

Veronica successfully progressed to the third stage of
the process and completed her interview in June 2018.

Significant issues

She is now waiting to hear if she has been offered a
place in the program.
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North Metropolitan TAFE Managing Director Michelle Hoad, Veronica
Jeredis and Janine Freeman MLA

Disclosures and legal compliance

Edward Owen, Executive Director at The Firm – Hair Body and
Soul and Tahlia McGarvey, a Year 11 trainee from North Lake
Senior Campus

Contents

During 2017:

Two contracted career centres also provided specialist
services to people from culturally and linguistically diverse
backgrounds and ex-offenders.

• The highest course enrolments were in the category
of jobseekers which increased from 2,926 in 2016
to 3,413 in 2017.

From July 2017 to March 2018, the network
of metropolitan centres:

The Department’s Migration Services also:

• The program recorded 6,348 course enrolments.

Provided 14 career guidance workshops for school
groups and other members of the community

• Assisted 1,640 clients with 1,779 assessments through
the Overseas Qualifications Unit.

Attracted 2,315,339 million visits to the website

From July 2017 to June 2018, the network of
metropolitan centres:
Provided 1,522 career guidance sessions

93% of customers were
satisfied with the Department’s
career services.
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Recorded 6,551 Career Centre client contacts

• Assisted 259 skilled migrants and their dependants
with relevant information on government services,
employment and accommodation through
Settlement Services.

Significant issues

These services are transitioning to the Jobs and Skills
Centre network, which will continue to expand over
2018–19.

Performance

The Department provided additional support services
through the Participation program to students experiencing
barriers to training or employment.

Our organisation

Through this transition year, the Department continued to
provide free career and training services to people of all
ages through its network of career centres.

The year at a glance

The Department provides numerous programs to increase
the community’s access to training and jobs services in
Western Australia.

Appendices
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The State Government Information and Communications
Technology (ICT) Strategy, Digital WA, provides a whole
of government vision and roadmap for ICT in Western
Australia. The strategy will help transform the way public
services are designed, supported and delivered for a
community living and working in a digital world.

The Jobs and Skills WA website was developed as a
digital one-stop shop. For the first time, all information
about Western Australian training, careers and jobs can be
accessed from this one location.

• an online jobs board for Aboriginal jobseekers, and
capacity for employers to register and advertise
vacancies online through the jobs board;

The Apprenticeship Office
sub-site was viewed 61,363 times.

• assessment of overseas qualifications; and

Performance

A 2016 Auditor General’s report stated that the
Department has a progressive strategy towards online
service delivery. Digital services include:
• processing of applications for international students
to study at Western Australian TAFE colleges and
government schools;

Our organisation

The Service Priority Review also focused on the use of
digital technology to improve the way government services
are delivered to the community.

management system which simplifies the training
contract registration and administration process for all
Western Australian apprentices and trainees. The system
includes improved processing through in-built validation,
assessment and submission rules with considerable
reduction in the reliance on manual processing. It also
includes an online client portal for employers, registered
training organisations, apprentices and parents/guardians,
allowing 24/7 online access to manage and amend training
contracts. Processes have been streamlined with some
changes receiving immediate approval through the portal.

The year at a glance

Digital technology

• applications for skilled migration programs, including
Western Australian State nomination.

The new system aims to deliver improved student
self-service capabilities. The transition involved significant
change to business practices. The efforts of TAFE staff to
manage issues during transition to support students
is appreciated.
As with all new major complex systems, implementation
has identified areas where functionality requires
improvement. System upgrades and enhancement to
business processes are progressively being implemented
with input from staff.
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From 1 July 2017 to 20 April 2018 (when the Jobs and
Skills WA website was launched), the Department’s
corporate website:
• received 106,656 visitors;
• was viewed 368,168 times; and
• the Apprenticeship Office sub-site was viewed
61,363 times.

Appendices

The management of apprenticeship and traineeship
records entered a new digital phase, with the development
of the new Western Australian Apprenticeship
Management System (WAAMS). WAAMS is a record

The Department is supporting the State Training Board’s
project to examine current and emerging technology
and innovation advances likely to impact WA industries
and the implications for education, training and workforce
development. The project was undertaken in collaboration
with industry, employers, educators and training providers.
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The Department continued to support training and
workforce development services through enhanced ICT
systems. A major initiative was a project to replace the
existing TAFE colleges’ student management system, which
commenced under the management of the Department.
North Metropolitan TAFE was the first to implement the
system in January 2018, with the remaining four colleges
expected to implement in mid-2018 and
early 2019.

The Department has continued to work with the TAFE
colleges to enhance the Sectors cybersecurity capability
through improvements to industry security standards,
development of an Information Security Management
System and audit and event logging and monitoring capacity.

Significant issues

Initiatives developed in 2017–18

Contents
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Photo: (From left to right) State Training Board Chair Jim Walker, Department of
Training and Workforce Development Director General Anne Driscoll, Agricultural
Region MLC Darren West, Muresk Institute General Manager Prue Jenkins.
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In June 2018, Muresk Farm was established as the first
public demonstration site for Smart Farm technology in
WA. The farm was equipped with Wi-Fi, a cloud server
and closed system for water and soil monitoring, precision
controlled machinery, weather monitoring, and livestock
tracking through sensors.

Significant issues

“Not only is technology changing the way we do things,
it is also opening up new opportunities for jobs. Muresk
is leading the way in teaching and adopting the latest
innovations in technology and systems to allow us to keep
pace with the rest of the world,” he said.

Performance

The showcase featured a presentation by Dr Natasha Ayers,
Managing Director and co-founder of AgriStart, giving
an overview of the agtech scene in WA and some of the
latest innovations that could add value to farming from
data-driven practices. Dr Ayres said it was vital agricultural
technologists and growers communicated their ideas, to
ensure that new technology met market demand. She
outlined five technologies that were in the development
process or already adapted in WA farming practices,
including drones, robots, sensors, precision agriculture and
connectivity. Agricultural Region MLC Darren West who
opened the inaugural showcase at Muresk said as a farmer
he understood the importance of new technology and the
efficiencies and opportunities it presented the industry.

Our organisation

The latest innovations, technologies and upskilling
opportunities in the agricultural sector were featured at
Muresk Institute’s inaugural FarmSmart Showcase in June.
Farmers and those working in the agriculture and livestock
industry benefited from the event which brought together
experts from Western Australia and interstate.

The year at a glance

During 2017–18, Muresk Institute
undertook several initiatives to
boost their technological training
and services.

Contents

World Skills also showcased Western Australian skills and
talents with 51 members of TeamWA competing in the
2018 WorldSkills Australia National Championship.

Performance

Western Australia won one award at the Australian Training
Awards – Jane Goodfellow, Australian VET Teacher/Trainer
of the Year 2017.

Our organisation

133 applicants competed across 12 award categories in the
WA Training Awards and eight Western Australian winners
were selected as finalists in the Australian Training Awards.

The year at a glance

The 2017 WA Training Awards and the Australian Training
Awards showcased the outstanding achievements of a diverse
range of Western Australians.

1 Western Australian was selected as a member of the
Skillaroos.

Significant issues

Western Australians won 21 medals in the competition:
8 gold, 5 silver and 8 bronze medals.

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Photo: Individual and organisation category winners at the WA Training Awards 2017 Presentation Dinner.
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After consultation with private training providers,
the Department developed an improved VET quality
framework for approval by the Minister for Education
and Training.

Audit and Compliance Plan

Resource Allocation Model review
The Department intends to implement a new funding
model for TAFE colleges and contracted private RTOs by
2020. The following stakeholders have been involved in
consultation which will continue over 2019:
• TAFE colleges
• Private RTOs
• State Training Board
• Training Accreditation Council

• increased on site audits;

• Australian Council of Private Education and Training

• improved focus on outcomes, including unit and course
completions; and

• Community and Public Sector Union

• a program of strategic audits.

• State School Teachers’ Union of WA

In 2017–18, the Department conducted:
• 66 desktop contractual audits; and

Professional development

• 23 on site contractual audits.

• Civil Service Association of WA

• a professional development calendar, which included
148 workshops and webinars in 2018.
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The Department delivers a program of professional
development that aims to build the capability of VET
practitioners in Western Australia. This program includes:
• The Training Providers Forum which in 2018 attracted
283 delegates and a further 44 webinar registrations;
and

Disclosures and legal compliance

The Department also prepared a revised Audit and
Compliance Plan for 2018 to strengthen contractual
compliance through:
• improved risk assessment, enhanced through input by
private training providers;

The Department provides guidance to RTOs on the
expected standards of performance and sets out processes
for dealing with performance issues and disputes. Should
non-compliance with contractual obligations be evident,
remedies range from audit action plans to termination of
contract, including repayment of funding allocations where
appropriate. The Department strives to ensure contract
management is collaborative and fair.

Significant issues

The framework aims to promote market-wide confidence
that VET delivered by Government funded private RTOs is
of a high quality.

Managing performance
Performance

As part of the Jobs and Skills WA strategy, the Department
made a commitment to further improve on its existing quality
control system for registered private training providers.

Our organisation

Quality control system for publicly funded
private registered training organisations (RTOs)

The year at a glance

During 2017–18, the Department strengthened and improved
its systems and processes to increase the quality of its services
and improve regulatory frameworks, initiatives that were also
recommended in the State Government’s Service Priority Review.

Contents

The year at a glance

Our organisation
Performance

Significant issues

Disclosures and legal compliance
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The year at a glance

Significant issues impacting
on the Department.
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◦ Supporting government initiatives to maximise
apprentices and trainees in State funded contracted
works and services.
◦ Progressing implementation of a Vocational
Education and Training Regional Partnerships
Program to provide an opportunity for regional
TAFEs to invest in new and innovative long term
partnerships to create training and job opportunities.
◦ Ensuring that the TAFE sector makes a contribution
to the development and implementation of the
long term international education strategy to
increase Western Australia’s market share of
international students to address the downward
revision to international training activity over the
forward estimates.

Appendices

◦ Implementing 13 metropolitan and regional TAFE
Jobs and Skills Centres in order to provide a central
point of contact for industry, business and individual
jobseekers around their career and training needs.

◦ Introducing a quality control system including an
ongoing audit process for private registered training
providers seeking to deliver government funded
training places with an increase in on site audits and
a focus on outcomes.
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◦ Implementing the vocational education and training
course fee freeze over the period 2018 to 2021,
including for students aged 15 to 17 years, in order
to address affordability concerns for prospective
students and employers following a protracted
period of significant fee increases.

◦ Ensuring apprentices in craft industries can train
in Western Australia rather than being required to
travel interstate.

Significant issues

• The Department will progress initiatives to support the
Government’s jobs growth priorities including:

◦ Implementing the revamp of the State Training
Board and Industry Training Councils, including
a new reporting structure, recognition criteria,
Service Agreement and an Industry Engagement and
Planning Framework to ensure their input provides a
direct link between industry needs and government
economic direction.

Performance

• While Western Australia is experiencing improved
overall employment growth, key challenges for
the labour market include a reduction in full time
employment and underemployment of many Western
Australian workers. This is due to the State’s jobs
market not generating enough demand to satisfy all the
available workers working at their full capacity. Youth
unemployment (those aged 15-24) continued to trend
higher over the year with increasing numbers of young
people unable to find employment.

◦ Implementing a new regional labour market review
framework to support the development of regionalspecific occupation lists for all of the State’s nine
regions, ensuring that the identification of priority
occupations are more responsive to the regions and
the TAFE colleges deliver training that aligns with
future jobs growth in the regions.

Our organisation

• In recent years Western Australia has experienced
a period of challenging economic conditions
in its domestic economy. However a return to
positive employment growth and increasing rates
of participation in the labour market by Western
Australians are positive signs the State’s jobs market
appears to be picking up. Employment growth in
2017–18 was 2.3% compared to a contraction of 0.9%
in the previous year, and the State’s participation rate
increased from 67.9% in 2016–17 to 68.5% in 2017–18.
Western Australia’s participation rate was higher than
the national participation rate of 65.7% over the same
period. After trending higher over recent years, the
unemployment rate plateaued at 6.1% for 2017–18,
which was higher than the national unemployment rate
of 5.4% over the same period.
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◦ Undertaking a major upgrade at Collie TAFE and
working with industry to provide training in a whole
range of mining industry jobs.

• A significant jobs growth and skills development need
has been identified for the Social Assistance and Allied
Health sectors to support the roll out of the National
Disability Insurance Scheme, the growth in aged care,
allied health and community services sectors. Policy
and funding responses will be developed to support the
anticipated growth in these sectors.

◦ Implementing the removal of the resources sector’s
exemption from the Building and Construction
Industry Training Fund (BCITF) levy to ensure that all
industries undertaking construction work contribute
to the training and development of the State’s
construction workforce.
◦ Working with the resources sector and the
building and construction industry to ensure the
BCITF levy is disbursed to meet the training needs
of the construction workforce in all relevant
industry sectors.

Significant issues

Disclosures and legal compliance

• The National Partnership Agreement on Skills Reform
expired on 30 June 2017, with a final payment of $53.8
million in 2016–17. While the Australian Government
has announced a new National Partnership Agreement,
the funding proposal is for a lesser amount, removes
State discretion and presents risks for the State if
proposed training targets are not met. Negotiations
continue to find funding parameters that better balance
contributions and risk between the State and the
Australian Government.

Performance

◦ Developing a new grants scheme to provide
incentives to employers of new trainees to better
target the State Government’s investment in training.
This follows the Government’s removal of payroll tax
exemptions for existing worker trainees given some
employers were using it as a tax avoidance measure.
The Department has been liaising extensively with
business on the design of the potential new grants
scheme with a view to implementation in July 2019.

• Technological change and automation, particularly in
the resources sector, is a major challenge for the State’s
future workforce. In response, specialist curriculum
in automation to address the skills needs of displaced
workers, and skill and attract school students to the
sector, is being developed as part of collaboration
between major resource sector stakeholders and South
Metropolitan TAFE. Further work is planned to broaden
the scope of this initiative to include other industries
impacted by automation and new technologies.

Our organisation

• The Department will work with the State Training Board
and industry stakeholders to address critical emerging
skills needs in the State, including continuing to grow
apprenticeship and traineeship numbers.

The year at a glance

◦ Working closely with stakeholders to develop campus
infrastructure required to support METRONET
and delivery for the transport and construction
industries.

Appendices
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ANNE DRISCOLL
Director General

24 August 2018

24 August 2018

Significant issues

GLENDA HUSK
Chief Financial Officer

Performance

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in
the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Our organisation

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Training and Workforce Development have been
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and
records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 and the financial
position as at 30 June 2018.

The year at a glance

Certification of Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Disclosures and legal compliance

Appendices
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
NOTES

2018
$000

2017
$000

3.1
3.3
5.1, 5.2
3.3
3.2

54 673
21 969
2 455
5 159
462 976
350
717
12 039

52 768
23 033
2 382
5 614
458 985
15
220
8 260

560 338

551 277

33 036
152 491
985
8 531

40 158
213 567
1 236
6 686

195 043

261 647

50
86
14

459
143
-

TOTAL GAINS
TOTAL INCOME OTHER THAN FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

150
195 193

602
262 249

NET COST OF SERVICES

365 145

289 028

353 551
495
4 067

353 472
496
3 947

358 113

357 915

(7 032)

68 887

(4 873)

4 672

(4 873)

4 672

(11 905)

73 559

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Accommodation expense
Grants and subsidies
Loss arising from changes in net realisable value - inventories
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Loss arising from changes in fair value - land
Loss arising from changes in fair value - building
Other expenses

4.6

3.3

TOTAL COST OF SERVICES

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest revenue
Other revenue

4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5

TOTAL REVENUE

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Gain arising from changes in fair value - land
Gain arising from changes in fair value - livestock
Gain arising from changes in fair value - artwork

Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund

4.6
4.6
4.6
4.6

4.1
4.1
4.1

TOTAL INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

9.7

See also the ‘Schedule of income and expense by service’.
The Statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018
NOTES

2018
$000

2017
$000

7.1
7.1

53 813
31 669
6
6 365
2 275

107 694
53 989
6
9 480
2 464

94 128

173 633

400
273
41 363
31 193
15 547

200
330
38 874
89 277
11 994

88 776

140 675

182 904

314 308

12 428
10 267
11 389

13 693
10 399
17 618

34 084

41 710

2 604

2 923

2 604

2 923

36 688

44 633

146 216

269 675

146 216

75 240
4 873
189 562

146 216

269 675

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Inventories
Receivables
Other assets

6.1
6.3

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Biological assets
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

7.1
6.2
5.1
5.2

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables
Employee related provisions
Other liabilities

6.4
3.1
6.5

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Employee related provisions

3.1

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Asset revaluation reserve
Accumulated surplus
TOTAL EQUITY
See also the ‘Schedule of assets and liabilities by service’.
The Statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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9.7
9.7

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
NOTES

Balance at 1 July 2016
Surplus
Other comprehensive income

9.7

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners:
Capital appropriations
Royalties for Regions capital funding
Contribution of capital from TAFE colleges
Contribution of capital from other sources
Other contribution by owners
Distribution to owners

CONTRIBUTED
EQUITY

RESERVES

TOTAL
EQUITY

$000

ACCUMULATED
SURPLUS/
(DEFICIT)
$000

$000

88 791

201

120 675

209 667

-

4 672

68 887
-

68 887
4 672

-

4 672

68 887

73 559

12 216
7 263
7 397
137
160
(40 724)

-

-

12 216
7 263
7 397
137
160
(40 724)

$000

9.7

(13 551)

-

-

(13 551)

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017

75 240

4 873

189 562

269 675

Balance at 1 July 2017

75 240
-

4 873
(4 873)

189 562
(7 032)
-

269 675
(7 032)
(4 873)

-

(4 873)

(7 032)

(11 905)

237
822
1 636
350
(114 599)

-

-

237
822
1 636
350
(114 599)

(111 554)
36 314

-

(36 314)

(111 554)
-

-

-

146 216

146 216

TOTAL

Deficit
Other comprehensive income

9.7

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners:
Capital appropriations
Royalties for Regions capital funding
Contribution of capital from TAFE colleges
Other contribution by owners
Distribution to owners
TOTAL
TRANSFER OF DEBIT BALANCE IN CONTRIBUTED
EQUITY TO ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2018

9.7

The Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
NOTES

2018
$000

2017
$000

Service appropriation
Capital appropriations
Royalties for Regions Fund
Contribution of capital funding from other sources
Payment to Consolidated Account
Repayment of Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 appropriation

351 062
237
4 889
1 500
(31 944)
(1 182)

351 615
12 216
11 210
2 579
-

NET CASH PROVIDED BY STATE GOVERNMENT

324 562

377 620

Employee benefits
Supplies and services and other expenses
Grants and subsidies
GST payments on purchases

(54 922)
(37 510)
(460 770)
(15 565)

(51 670)
(33 952)
(459 613)
(19 561)

Receipts
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest received
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts

27 666
152 191
1 063
966
14 385
7 218

38 096
213 867
1 384
760
17 520
7 362

(365 278)

(285 807)

(35 351)

(54 059)

66

72

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(35 285)

(53 987)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

(76 001)
161 883

37 826
124 057

85 882

161 883

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

7.1

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current assets

Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD
The Statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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7.1

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
2018
ESTIMATE
$000

Delivery of services
Item 18 Net amount appropriated to deliver services
Amount authorised by other statutes
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

2018
ACTUAL
$000

VARIANCE
$000

2018
ACTUAL
$000

2017
ACTUAL
$000

VARIANCE
$000

351 736

351 736

-

351 736

350 482

1 254

1 815

1 815

-

1 815

2 990

(1 175)

353 551

353 551

-

353 551

353 472

79

Item 93 Capital appropriations

237

237

-

237

12 216

(11 979)

TOTAL CAPITAL

237

237

-

237

12 216

(11 979)

GRAND TOTAL

353 788

353 788

-

353 788

365 688

(11 900)

Workforce planning and development
Development of vocational education and training policy and programs
Career and workforce development services
Skilled migration, including overseas qualification assessment
Apprenticeship and traineeship administration and regulation
Procurement of training
Recruitment and management of international students
Infrastructure management for TAFE colleges
Support services to TAFE colleges

10 232
8 381
14 861
1 991
10 005
452 123
42 387
3 037
39 889

9 409
7 225
12 230
1 123
9 401
443 972
34 638
7 181
35 159

(823)
(1 156)
(2 631)
(868)
(604)
(8 151)
(7 749)
4 144
(4 730)

9 409
7 225
12 230
1 123
9 401
443 972
34 638
7 181
35 159

9 026
6 711
12 472
1 717
8 865
428 653
41 259
9 040
33 534

383
514
(242)
(594)
536
15 319
(6 621)
(1 859)
1 625

TOTAL COST OF SERVICES

582 906
215 328

560 338
195 193

(22 568)
(20 135)

560 338
195 193

551 277
262 249

9 061
(67 056)

Adjustments

367 578
(14 027)

365 145
(11 594)

(2 433)
2 433

365 145
(11 594)

289 028
64 444

76 117
(76 038)

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS PROVIDED TO DELIVER SERVICES

353 551

353 551

-

353 551

353 472

79

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS PROVIDED TO DELIVER SERVICES

Capital

Details of expenses by service

Less Total income
NET COST OF SERVICES
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 (CONTINUED)
2018
ESTIMATE
$000

2018
ACTUAL
$000

VARIANCE
$000

2018
ACTUAL
$000

2017
ACTUAL
$000

VARIANCE
$000

Capital expenditure
Purchase of non-current assets

32 000

35 351

3 351

35 351

54 059

(18 708)

Capital appropriations

32 000

35 351

3 351

35 351

54 059

(18 708)

5 360

4 014

(1 346)

4 014

4 286

(272)

5 360

4 014

(1 346)

4 014

4 286

(272)

Details of Income Estimates
Income disclosed as Administered Income

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.
Note 10.1 ‘Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service’ and note 10.2 ‘Explanatory statement for administered items’ provide details of any significant variations between estimates and actual
results for 2018 and between the actual results for 2018 and 2017.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018
1. Basis of preparation
The Department of Training and Workforce Development is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of Western
Australia, which is the ultimate parent. The Department is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective).
A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been included in the ‘Overview’ which does not
form part of these financial statements.
These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Director General of the Department on 24 August 2018.

Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with:
1) The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA);
2) The Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions or TI);
3) Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) including applicable interpretations; and
4) Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been applied.
The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions take precedence over AAS. Several AAS are modified by
the Instructions to vary application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required and has had a material
or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and using the
historical cost convention. Certain balances will apply a different measurement basis (such as fair value basis). Where this
is the case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values are rounded to the nearest
thousand dollars ($’000).
Judgements and estimates
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented.
The significant judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the
notes where amounts affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions
are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.
Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the
nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) before such transfers can
be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements,
are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

2. Agency outputs
How the Department operates
This section includes information regarding the nature of funding the Department receives and how this funding is utilised
to achieve the Department’s objectives. This note also provides the distinction between controlled funding and administered
funding:
Note
Department objectives
Schedule of income and expenses by service
Schedule of assets and liabilities by service
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2.1
2.2
2.3

2.1 Department objectives
Mission
The Department of Training and Workforce Development’s mission is to build the Western Australian workforce to meet the
State’s economic and community needs.
The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations supplemented by funding received from the
Australian Government.

Services
The Department provides the following services:
Service 1: Workforce Planning and Development
The Department works closely with industry, the community and across government in gathering and analysing workforce
data and intelligence to identify the State’s workforce development and training priorities.
Service 2: Development of Vocational Education and Training Policy and Programs
The Department develops policies and programs that promote the effective and efficient operation of the State’s VET system.
Policy and program development is aligned to the Department’s strategic direction for workforce development and training
including higher education and the school sector.
Service 3: Career and Workforce Development Services
Career and Workforce Development Services provide education and training information, career guidance to the Western
Australian community, as well as employment, training and mentoring services to Aboriginal people and communities.
Service 4: Skilled Migration, including Overseas Qualification Assessment
Skilled migration, including Overseas Qualification Assessment assesses applications from intending skilled migrants who wish
to migrate to Western Australia, and assesses post-secondary qualifications gained overseas for Western Australian residents.
The service aims to facilitate skilled migration to Western Australia to supplement the local workforce and enable overseastrained residents to access education, training and employment through recognition of overseas qualifications.
Service 5: Apprenticeships and Traineeship Administration and Regulation
Apprenticeship and Traineeship Administration and Regulation includes registration of training contracts and administration
of contract variations, educating participants on training contract and legislation requirements, dispute resolution and
monitoring of legislative compliance.
Service 6: Procurement of Training
Procurement of training comprises the purchasing of training delivery services from TAFE colleges and private training
providers in accordance with the State’s priorities and the State Training Plan. The service is differentiated according to the
major training funding categories.
Service 7: Recruitment and Management of International Students
Recruitment and Management of International Students involves the marketing of Western Australian TAFE colleges and
public schools offshore and onshore, and the management of admissions, compliance and welfare of international students
according to relevant legislation.
Service 8: Infrastructure Management for TAFE Colleges
Infrastructure Management for TAFE colleges includes the maintenance, administration and strategic development of land
and buildings used to deliver publicly funded training in campuses across the State.
Service 9: Support Services to TAFE Colleges
Support Services to TAFE colleges include the supply, management and maintenance of information communication
technology, finance and human resource services.
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2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by service
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

WORKFORCE PLANNING
AND DEVELOPMENT

DEVELOPMENT OF
VOCATIONAL EDUCATION
AND TRAINING POLICY
AND PROGRAMS
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Accommodation expense
Grants and subsidies
Loss arising from changes in net realisable
value - inventories
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Loss arising from changes in fair value - land
Loss arising from changes in fair value - building
Other expenses

4 170
762
99
379
3 766
-

3 773
881
115
406
3 783
-

5 468
883
118
453
-

29
60
144

1
67

TOTAL COST OF SERVICES

9 409

CAREER AND WORKFORCE
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

SKILLED MIGRATION,
INCLUDING OVERSEAS
QUALIFICATION
ASSESSMENT
2018
2017
$000
$000

APPRENTICESHIP
AND TRAINEESHIP
ADMINISTRATION AND
REGULATION
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

5 138
787
138
488
47
-

3 607
447
63
241
7 723
-

4 319
654
116
410
6 900
-

832
113
25
95
-

1 302
203
39
137
13
-

6 775
1 289
186
710
1
-

6 392
1 318
210
744
72
-

35
72
196

1
112

19
38
92

1
72

7
15
36

23

55
113
272

2
127

9 026

7 225

6 711

12 230

12 472

1 123

1 717

9 401

8 865

50
1

92
37
-

250
60
1

110
45
-

32
1

92
38
-

175
13
-

475
31
13
-

4
96
2

168
69
-

51

129

311

155

33

130

188

519

102

237

9 358

8 897

6 914

6 556

12 197

12 342

935

1 198

9 299

8 628

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Income
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Gain arising from changes in fair value - land
Gain arising from changes in fair value - livestock
Gain arising from changes in fair value - artwork
TOTAL INCOME OTHER THAN INCOME FROM
STATE GOVERNMENT
NET COST OF SERVICES
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

WORKFORCE PLANNING
AND DEVELOPMENT

DEVELOPMENT OF
VOCATIONAL EDUCATION
AND TRAINING POLICY
AND PROGRAMS
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund

9 061
13
-

10 881
15
-

6 695
9
-

TOTAL INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

9 074

10 896

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

(284)

1 999

SKILLED MIGRATION,
INCLUDING OVERSEAS
QUALIFICATION
ASSESSMENT
2018
2017
$000
$000

APPRENTICESHIP
AND TRAINEESHIP
ADMINISTRATION AND
REGULATION
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

8 018
11
-

11 809
17
453

15 094
21
197

906
1
-

1 465
2
-

9 004
13
-

10 552
15
-

6 704

8 029

12 279

15 312

907

1 467

9 017

10 567

(210)

1 473

82

2 970

(28)

269

(282)

1 939

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CAREER AND WORKFORCE
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by service (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

PROCUREMENT OF
TRAINING

RECRUITMENT AND
MANAGEMENT OF
INTERNATIONAL
STUDENTS
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Accommodation expense
Grants and subsidies
Loss arising from changes in net realisable
value - inventories
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Loss arising from changes in fair value - land
Loss arising from changes in fair value - building
Other expenses

7 559
3 196
615
659
421 518
-

7 315
3 337
580
756
410 150
15

4 346
4 350
392
658
24 840
-

51
105
10 269

209
6 291

TOTAL COST OF SERVICES

443 972

User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Gain arising from changes in fair value - land
Gain arising from changes in fair value - livestock
Gain arising from changes in fair value - artwork

INFRASTRUCTURE
MANAGEMENT FOR TAFE
COLLEGES

SUPPORT SERVICES TO
TAFE COLLEGES

TOTAL

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

4 258
4 656
83
651
31 523
-

1 612
779
39
149
4 441
-

1 536
619
46
164
6 317
-

20 304
10 150
918
1 815
687
-

18 735
10 578
1 055
1 858
180
-

54 673
21 969
2 455
5 159
462 976
-

52 768
23 033
2 382
5 614
458 985
15

1
3
48

88

11
24
126

358

142
287
856

6
1 122

350
717
12 039

220
8 260

428 653

34 638

41 259

7 181

9 040

35 159

33 534

560 338

551 277

27
152 233
121
2 507
50
86
2

52
213 567
83
1 858
70
143
-

32 830
8
864
128
-

39 631
1 153
160
-

20
-

37
16
-

5 625
7

4 138
171
-

33 036
152 491
985
8 531
50
86
14

40 158
213 567
1 236
6 686
459
143
-

TOTAL INCOME OTHER THAN INCOME FROM
STATE GOVERNMENT

155 026

215 773

33 830

40 944

20

53

5 632

4 309

195 193

262 249

NET COST OF SERVICES

288 946

212 880

808

315

7 161

8 987

29 527

29 225

365 145

289 028

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Income
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

PROCUREMENT OF
TRAINING

RECRUITMENT AND
MANAGEMENT OF
INTERNATIONAL
STUDENTS
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund

279 770
392
3 614

260 345
365
3 750

782
1
-

TOTAL INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

283 776

264 460

(5 170)

51 580

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

SUPPORT SERVICES TO
TAFE COLLEGES

TOTAL

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

385
1
-

6 934
10
-

10 991
15
-

28 590
39
-

35 741
51
-

353 472
496
3 947

783

386

6 944

11 006

28 629

35 792

353 551
495
4 067
358 113

357 915

(25)

71

(217)

2 019

(898)

6 567

(7 032)

68 887

The Schedule of income and expenses by service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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INFRASTRUCTURE
MANAGEMENT FOR TAFE
COLLEGES

2.3 Schedule of assets and liabilities by service
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

WORKFORCE PLANNING
AND DEVELOPMENT

DEVELOPMENT OF
VOCATIONAL EDUCATION
AND TRAINING POLICY AND
PROGRAMS
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets

1 581
1 491

2 843
2 303

1 214
1 145

TOTAL ASSETS

3 072

5 146

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

572
44

TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

SKILLED MIGRATION,
INCLUDING OVERSEAS
QUALIFICATION
ASSESSMENT
2018
2017
$000
$000

APPRENTICESHIP
AND TRAINEESHIP
ADMINISTRATION AND
REGULATION
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

2 113
1 713

2 054
1 938

3 928
3 183

189
178

541
438

1 579
1 489

2 792
2 262

2 359

3 826

3 992

7 111

367

979

3 068

5 054

683
48

439
34

508
36

744
57

944
66

68
5

130
9

572
44

671
47

616

731

473

544

801

1 010

73

139

616

718

2 456

4 415

1 886

3 282

3 191

6 101

294

840

2 452

4 336

The Schedule of assets and liabilities by service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CAREER AND WORKFORCE
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

2.3 Schedule of assets and liabilities by service (continued)
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

PROCUREMENT OF
TRAINING

RECRUITMENT AND
MANAGEMENT OF
INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS
2018
2017
$000
$000

INFRASTRUCTURE
MANAGEMENT FOR TAFE
COLLEGES
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

74 580
70 339

135 011
109 384

5 819
5 488

12 995
10 528

1 206
1 138

144 919

244 395

11 307

23 523

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

27 006
2 063

32 432
2 273

2 107
161

TOTAL LIABILITIES

29 069

34 705

115 850

209 690

Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

NET ASSETS

TOTAL

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

2 847
2 307

5 906
5 570

10 563
8 557

94 128
88 776

173 633
140 675

2 344

5 154

11 476

19 120

182 904

314 308

3 122
219

437
33

684
48

2 139
163

2 536
177

34 084
2 604

41 710
2 923

2 268

3 341

470

732

2 302

2 713

36 688

44 633

9 039

20 182

1 874

4 422

9 174

16 407

146 216

269 675

The Schedule of assets and liabilities by service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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SUPPORT SERVICES TO TAFE
COLLEGES

3. Use of our funding
Expenses incurred in the delivery of services
This section provides additional information about how the Department’s funding is applied and the accounting policies that
are relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by the
Department in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:
NOTES

2018
$000

2017
$000

3.1 (a)
3.1 (b)
3.2
3.3

54 673
12 871
462 976
39 167

52 768
13 322
458 985
36 907

2018
$000

2017
$000

Wages and salaries
Termination benefits
Superannuation – defined contribution plans(a)

46 025
4 061
4 587

47 955
4 813

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

54 673

52 768

Employee benefits expenses
Employee benefits provisions
Grants and subsidies
Other expenditure

3.1 (a) Employee benefits expenses

(a) Defined contribution plans includes West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), Government
Employees Superannuation Board Schemes (GESBs) and other eligible funds.

Wages and salaries: Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits
tax and leave entitlements.
Termination benefits: Payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when an employee
accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when the
Department is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal
plan without possibility of withdrawal, or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.
Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of comprehensive income comprises employer
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBs, or other superannuation funds. The employer
contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.
GSS (concurrent contributions) is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government
reporting. It is however a defined contribution plan for Department purposes because the concurrent contributions
(defined contributions) made by the Department to GESB extinguishes the Department’s obligations to the related
superannuation liability.
The Department does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no legal or constructive obligation to pay
future benefits relating to its employees. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer
benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS
obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Department to the GESB.
The GESB and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance
with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary
according to commencement and implementation dates.
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3.1 (b) Employee benefits provisions
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave for
services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered.

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave(a)
Long service leave(b)
Deferred salary scheme(c)
Purchased leave(d)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(e)
TOTAL CURRENT EMPLOYEE RELATED PROVISIONS

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave(b)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(e)
TOTAL NON-CURRENT EMPLOYEE RELATED PROVISIONS
TOTAL EMPLOYEE RELATED PROVISIONS

2018
$000

2017
$000

2 926
7 247
53

2 963
7 384
42
(36)

10 226

10 353

41

46

10 267

10 399

2 594

2 910

2 594

2 910

10

13

2 604
12 871

2 923
13 322

(a) Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of
the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

2 405
521

2 399
564

2 926

2 963

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in relation to services provided by
employees up to the reporting date.
(b) Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Department has an
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

2 654
7 187

2 774
7 520

9 841

10 294

The long service leave liabilities are calculated at present value as the Department does not expect to wholly settle the amounts within
12 months. The present value is measured taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be made in relation to
services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These payments are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply
at the time of settlement, and discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities: Classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

-

42

-

42

(d) Purchased leave liabilities: Classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the
end of the reporting period. This leave must be used each calendar year and cannot be accrued from year to year.
(e) Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs
including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.
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Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs
are included as part of ‘Other expenses, note 3.3’ and are not included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits
expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.
Employment on-costs provisions
2018
$000

2017
$000

Carrying amount at start of period
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits

59
(8)
-

57
2
-

Carrying amount at end of period

51

59

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Department’s long service leave provision. These include:
• Expected future salary rates;
• Discount rates;
• Employee retention rates; and
• Expected future payments.
Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as employee
benefits expense.

3.2 Grants and subsidies

Contracts and agreements for the delivery of training and employment services by:
TAFE colleges and Western Australian Academy of Performing Arts
Private training providers
Other training providers
Other grants

2018
$000

2017
$000

353 551
81 444
25 558
2 423

341 098
90 385
25 355
2 147

462 976

458 985

Transactions in which the Department provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another party
without receiving approximately equal value in return are categorised as ‘Grant expenses’. Grants can either be operating or
capital in nature.
Grants can be paid as general-purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use.
Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions
attached regarding their use.
Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting
period in which they are paid or payable. They include transactions such as: grants, subsidies, personal benefit payments
made in cash to individuals, other transfer payments made to public sector agencies, local government, non-government
schools, and community groups.

66 | ANNUAL REPORT 2017–18

3.3 Other expenditure
2018
$000

2017
$000

1 948
3 179
8 911
683
3 387
656
290
2 042
495
378

2 090
3 704
9 570
732
3 118
698
300
1 972
496
353

21 969

23 033

Accommodation expense
Lease rentals
Leasing consultancy services

5 156
3

5 602
12

TOTAL ACCOMMODATION EXPENSE

5 159

5 614

Other expenses
Repairs, maintenance and minor works
Employment on-costs
Voluntary severance scheme payment to TAFE colleges
Doubtful debts expense
VET FEE HELP Assistance scheme
Repayment of Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 appropriation
Computing equipment purchases for TAFE colleges
Other

712
1 010
4 632
402
4 941
342

967
185
83
4 532
1 182
997
314

12 039
39 167

8 260
36 907

Supplies and services
Commissions
Communications
Consultants and contractors
Electricity and water expenses
Minor equipment purchases
Operating leases
Other staffing costs
Other
Services received free of charge from other government agencies
Travel
TOTAL SUPPLIES AND SERVICES EXPENSES

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES
TOTAL OTHER EXPENDITURE

Supplies and services:
Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts
of any materials held for distribution are expensed when the materials are distributed.
Accommodation expense:
Operating lease payments are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis
is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset.
Other expenses:
Other expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations.
Repairs, maintenance and minor works:
Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement of a
significant component of an asset. In that case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated.
Employment on-costs includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability
associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liabilities is included at note 3.1(b) Employee benefit
provisions. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not
included in employment on-costs.
Doubtful debt expense is recognised as the movement in the provision for doubtful debt. Please refer to note 6.1.1
Movement of the allowance for impairment of receivables.
VET Fee Help Assistance scheme relates to Western Australia’s share of VET loan impairment costs paid to the
Commonwealth Government. The Commonwealth Actuary estimates annual impairment costs as a percentage of all loan
values, which are then applied to the calendar year value of VET loans in Western Australia.
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4. Our funding sources
How we obtain our funding
This section provides additional information about how the Department obtains its funding and the relevant accounting policy
notes that govern the recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary income received by the Department and the
relevant notes are:
NOTES

2018
$000

2017
$000

4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6

358 113
33 036
152 491
985
8 531
150

357 915
40 158
213 567
1 236
6 686
602

2018
$000

2017
$000

353 551

353 472

353 551

353 472

Department of Finance
Department of Justice
Department of Education
Landgate

376
108
6
5

359
130
4
3

TOTAL SERVICES RECEIVED

495

496

3 621
446

3 457
490

4 067
358 113

3 947
357 915

Income from State Government
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Gains

4.1 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation(a)
Services received free of charge from other State Government agencies during the period:

Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Community Services Account(b)
Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account(b)
TOTAL ROYALTIES FOR REGIONS FUND
TOTAL INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

(a) Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of the appropriated
funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited in the bank account or credited to the
‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.
Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered (as set out in note 2.2). Appropriation revenue comprises the following:
• Cash component; and
• A receivable (asset).
The receivable (holding account – note 6.2) comprises the following:
• The budgeted depreciation expense for the year; and
• Any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.
(b) The Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account, and, Regional Community Services Accounts are sub-funds within the over-arching
‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas and are recognised as
revenue when the Department gains control on receipt of the funds.
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4.2 User charges and fees

Overseas student course fees(a)
Other fees and charges

2018
$000

2017
$000

32 427
609

39 138
1 020

33 036

40 158

(a) TAFE International Western Australia

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the
major business when fees and charges are due.

4.3 Commonwealth grants and contributions

National Agreement for Skills and Workforce Development
National Partnership Agreement on Skills Reform
Other grants

2018
$000

2017
$000

152 015
476

159 578
53 849
140

152 491

213 567

For non-reciprocal grants, the Department recognises revenue when the grant is receivable at its fair value as and when its
fair value can be reliably measured.
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would have been
purchased if not donated.

4.4 Interest revenue

Interest revenue

2018
$000

2017
$000

985

1 236

985

1 236

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised as the
interest accrues.

4.5 Other revenue

Commissions
Other miscellaneous revenue
Recoveries and refunds
Rental premises
Sale of goods and service
Service revenue

2018
$000

2017
$000

107

132

270
944
829
1 066
5 315

151
352
509
1 362
4 180

8 531

6 686

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the
major business activities as follows:
• Sale of goods - when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchases and can be measured reliably.
• Provision of services - by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.
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4.6 Gains
2018
$000

2017
$000

66
66

72
72

(16)
(16)

(242)
(39)
(11)
(292)

NET GAIN/(LOSS)

50

(220)

Gain arising from changes in fair value - land
Gain arising from changes in fair value - livestock
Gain arising from changes in fair value - artwork

86
14

459
143
-

100
150

602
382

Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Plant, equipment and motor vehicles
Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed
Building
Plant, equipment and motor vehicles
Office equipment

TOTAL OTHER INCOME
TOTAL GAINS

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of
non‑current assets and some revaluations of non‑current assets.
Gains and losses on the disposal of non‑current assets are presented by deducting from the proceeds on disposal the
carrying amount of the asset and related selling expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the
Statement of comprehensive income (from the proceeds of sale).

5. Key assets
Assets the Department utilises for economic benefit or service potential
This section includes information regarding the key assets the Department utilises to gain economic benefits or provide
service potential. The section sets out both the key accounting policies and financial information about the performance
of these assets:

Property, plant and equipment
Intangibles
TOTAL KEY ASSETS
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NOTES

2018
$000

2017
$000

5.1
5.2

31 193
15 547

89 277
11 994

46 740

101 271

5.1 Property, plant and equipment
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

1 July 2016
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Disposal
Transfers
Transfers to/from work in progress(a)
Revaluation increments/(decrements)
Depreciation

Carrying amount at 30 June 2017

LAND

BUILDINGS

LEASEHOLD
PLANT &
IMPROVE EQUIPMENT
-MENTS
$000
$000

MOTOR
VEHICLES

COMPUTERS

OFFICE
EQUIPMENT

ARTWORK

FURNITURE
& FITTINGS

TOTAL

$000

CAPITAL
WORKS IN
PROGRESS
$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

11 701
11 701

26 257
26 257

476
(74)
402

590
(245)
345

159
(65)
94

3 337
(2 507)
830

569
(447)
122

111
111

33
(11)
22

35 642
35 642

78 875
(3 349)
75 526

459
12 160

(242)
1
8 897
4 672
(842)
38 743

58
(75)
385

263
(39)
(16)
(103)
450

(31)
63

8
(748)
90

54
(11)
17
(53)
129

111

(3)
19

46 624
(45 139)
37 127

46 949
(292)
2
(36 184)
5 131
(1 855)
89 277

(a) The Department carries out capital works on behalf of the TAFE colleges. Upon completion of construction, these assets are transferred out to TAFE colleges as distribution to owners.
Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 8.3
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$000

5.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

1 July 2017
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
Disposal
Transfers
Transfers to/from work in progress(a)
Impairment losses(b)
Revaluation increments/(decrements)
Depreciation

Carrying amount at 30 June 2018

LAND

BUILDINGS

LEASEHOLD
PLANT &
IMPROVE EQUIPMENT
-MENTS
$000
$000

$000

$000

12 160
12 160

38 743
38 743

534
(149)
385

(3 000)
(350)
8 810

(17 925)
226
(5 591)
(744)
14 709

(315)
(70)
-

MOTOR
VEHICLES

COMPUTERS

OFFICE
EQUIPMENT

ARTWORK

FURNITURE
& FITTINGS

TOTAL

$000

CAPITAL
WORKS IN
PROGRESS
$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

637
(187)
450

159
(96)
63

3 345
(3 255)
90

354
(225)
129

111
111

33
(14)
19

37 127
37 127

93 203
(3 926)
89 277

442
(16)
(96)
780

(32)
31

(87)
3

17
16
(34)
128

(24)
14
101

(16)
(2)
1

27 448
(57 945)
6 630

27 907
(16)
(20 949)
(57 719)
(315)
(5 927)
(1 065)
31 193

$000

(a) The Department carries out capital works on behalf of the TAFE colleges. Upon completion of construction, these assets are transferred out to TAFE colleges as distribution to owners.
(b) Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment losses is recognised in profit or loss.
Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income.

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 8.3
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Initial recognition
Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5 000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired
for no or nominal cost, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and equipment
costing less than $5 000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of comprehensive income (other than where they
form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).
Assets transferred as part of a machinery of government change are transferred at their fair value.
The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the leasehold improvement.
The initial cost for a non‑financial physical asset under a finance lease is measured at amounts equal to the fair value of the
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings.
Land is carried at fair value.
Buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses
All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and
Property Analytics) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair
value at the end of the reporting period.
Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2017 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and
Property Analytics). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2018 and recognised at 30 June 2018.
In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to current use for land: $8 810 000
(2017: $12 160 000) and current replacement cost for buildings: $14 708 850 (2017: $38 743 450).
Revaluation model:
(a) Fair value where market‑based evidence is available:
The fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market values determined by reference to recent
market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.
(b) Fair value in the absence of market‑based evidence:
Buildings are specialised or where land is restricted: Fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of
existing use.
Existing use buildings: Fair value is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits
embodied in the asset, i.e. the current replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the current
replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the
carrying amount of the asset and the accumulated depreciation is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the carrying amount of the asset.
Restricted use land: Fair value is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility
(high restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land).
Significant assumptions and judgements: The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are
made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life. Professional
judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and
existing use assets.
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5.1.1 Depreciation and impairment
Charge for the period

Depreciation
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Plant and equipment
Motor Vehicles
Computers
Office equipment
Furniture and fittings
TOTAL DEPRECIATION FOR THE PERIOD

Impairment
Leasehold improvements
TOTAL IMPAIRMENT FOR THE PERIOD
TOTAL DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT FOR THE PERIOD

2018
$000

2017
$000

744
70
96
32
87
34
2

842
76
103
32
746
53
3

1 065

1 855

315

-

315
1 380

1 855

An impairment loss relating to leasehold improvements was recognised in 2017‑18. There were no indications of any further
impairment to property, plant and equipment or intangible assets at 30 June 2018.
All surplus assets at 30 June 2018 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written‑off.
Please refer to note 5.2 for guidance in relation to the impairment assessment that has been performed for intangible assets.

Finite useful lives
All property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in
a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule include assets held for
sale and land.
Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual
value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes are included in the table
below:
Asset
Building
Plant and equipment
Office equipment
Communication equipment
Computer equipment
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Leasehold improvements

Useful life: years
40 years
5 to 12 years
5 to 15 years
5 years
3 to 5 years
10 years
5 years
7 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period,
and adjustments should be made where appropriate.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.
Land and artwork, which are considered to have an indefinite life, are not depreciated. Depreciation is not recognised in
respect of these assets because their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting
period. Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the valuation model is used for the measurement of artwork.
The Department has a policy of revaluing artworks at fair value which is undertaken every 5 years. The revaluation of
the Department’s artworks was undertaken in June 2018 by independent valuer – Japingka Indigenous Fine Art Gallery.
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Impairment
Non‑financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the
recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.
Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised through
profit or loss.
Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation
decrement through other comprehensive income.
As the Department is a not‑for‑profit entity, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued specialised assets are anticipated
to be materially the same as fair value.
If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable
amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the
asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs.

5.2 Intangible assets
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

TOTAL

$000

WORK IN
PROGRESS
(INTERNALLY
DEVELOPED
SOFTWARE)
$000

Carrying amount at start of period

2 573
(200)
2 373

2 538
2 538

5 111
(200)
4 911

Additions
Transfers from TAFE colleges
Amortisation expense

(527)

5 124
2 486
-

5 124
2 486
(527)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2017

1 846

10 148

11 994

COMPUTER
SOFTWARE

TOTAL

$000

WORK IN
PROGRESS
(INTERNALLY
DEVELOPED
SOFTWARE)
$000

2 573
(727)
1 846

10 148
10 148

12 721
(727)
11 994

Additions
Transfer to/from work in progress
Amortisation expense

14 380
(1 075)

4 628
(14 380)
-

4 628
(1 075)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2018

15 151

396

15 547

1 July 2016
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortisation

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

$000

1 July 2017
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortisation

Carrying amount at start of period
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COMPUTER
SOFTWARE

$000

$000

Initial recognition
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5 000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $1 000 000
or more that comply with the recognition criteria as per AASB 138.57 (as noted below), are capitalised.
Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of comprehensive income.
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value
at the date of acquisition.
An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is
recognised if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated:
(a) The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
(b) An intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
(c) The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
(d) The intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit;
(e) The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and
(f) The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Costs incurred in the research phase of a project are immediately expensed.
Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
5.2.1 Amortisation and impairment
Charge for the period
2018
$000

2017
$000

Amortisation
Computer software

1 075

527

TOTAL AMORTISATION FOR THE PERIOD

1 075

527

As at 30 June 2018 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.
The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of
the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value over
its estimated useful life. All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value.
Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.
The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Computer software(a)
Licenses
Internally developed software

3 to 5 years
7 to 10 years
3 to 10 years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

Impairment of intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an indication of impairment is identified.
The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 5.1.1.
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6. Other assets and liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Department’s controlled operations and includes other
assets utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations:
NOTES

2018
$000

2017
$000

Other assets
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other assets

6.1
6.2
6.3

6 365
41 363
2 275

9 480
38 874
2 464

Other liabilities
Payables
Other liabilities

6.4
6.5

12 428
11 389

13 693
17 618

2018
$000

2017
$000

Current
Receivables
Allowance for impairment of receivables
Accrued revenue
GST receivable

4 624
(485)
564
1 662

6 894
(295)
287
2 594

TOTAL RECEIVABLES

6 365

9 480

6.1 Receivables

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).
The carrying amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.
6.1.1 Movement of the allowance for impairment of receivables

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at the start of period
Doubtful debts expense
Amounts written off during the period
Impairment losses reversed during the period

Balance at end of period

2018
$000

2017
$000

295
450
(242)
(18)

805
83
(567)
(26)

485

295

The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written‑off
against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective
evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts.

6.2 Amounts receivables for services (Holding account)

2018
$000

2017
$000

Non‑current

41 363

38 874

Balance at end of period

41 363

38 874

Amounts receivable for services represent the non‑cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can
only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.
The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset
(holding account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement
to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.
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6.3 Other assets
2018
$000

2017
$000

Current
Prepayments

2 275

2 464

Balance at end of period

2 275

2 464

Other non‑financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that
part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

6.4 Payables
2018
$000

2017
$000

Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Accrued salaries

248
11 806
374

1 613
11 590
490

Balance at end of period

12 428

13 693

Current

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result
of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.
Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled
within a fortnight of the reporting period end. The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be
equivalent to its fair value.
The accrued salaries suspense account (See note 7.1.1 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts paid
annually, from Department appropriations for salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense account to meet the additional cash
outflow for employee salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No interest is received
on this account.

6.5 Other liabilities
2018
$000

2017
$000

Income received in advance (a)
Other

10 852
537

16 718
900

Balance at end of period

11 389

17 618

Current

(a)

Relates to overseas student course fees relating to future semesters that are received in advance.

7. Financing
This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cash flows of the Department.
NOTES

Cash and cash equivalents
Reconciliation of cash
Reconciliation of operating activities
Commitments
Non‑cancellable operating lease commitments
Capital commitments
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7.1
7.1.1
7.1.2
7.2
7.2.1
7.2.2

7.1 Cash and cash equivalents
7.1.1 Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Unexpended Commonwealth grants(a)
Training interest bearing account(b)
Muresk interest bearing account
Royalties for Regions Fund(c)
Accrued salaries suspense account(d)

NOTES

2018
$000

2017
$000

53 813

107 694

730
23 837
7 102
400

889
47 656
5 140
304
200

85 882

161 883

8.1

(a) The amounts relate to unexpended Commonwealth grants, which stipulate the monies shall be expended in a particular manner.
(b) The amounts held in the Training interest bearing account is only to be used for the purposes as determined by the Vocational and
Education Training Act 1996.
(c) Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.
(d) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a reporting period that occurs every 11th year.
This account is classified as non‑current for 10 out of 11 years.
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on
hand and short‑term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

7.1.2 Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
NOTES

Net cost of services
Non‑cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Impairment loss on leasehold improvements
Doubtful debts expense
Services received free of charge
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
(Gain)/loss arising from changes in fair value - land
(Gain)/loss arising from changes in fair value - building
(Gain)/loss arising from changes in fair value - artwork
(Gain)/loss arising from changes in fair value - livestock
(Gain)/loss arising from changes in net realisable value - inventories
Adjustments for other non‑cash items
(Increase)/decrease in assets
Current receivables(a)
Non‑current biological assets
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables(a)
Other current liabilities
Current provisions
Non‑current provisions
Net GST receipts/(payments)(b)
Change in GST receivables/payables(c)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

5.1
3.3
4.1
4.6
4.6

4.6

2018
$000

2017
$000

(365 145)

(289 028)

2 140
315
402
495
(50)
350
717
(14)
(86)
912

2 382
83
496
220
(459)
(143)
15
-

2 443
145

(2 673)
99

(1 264)
(6 228)
(884)
(457)
213
718

5 564
(2 823)
468
(62)
1 281
(1 227)

(365 278)

(285 807)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the
sale/purchase of non‑current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.
(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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7.2 Commitments
7.2.1 Non‑cancellable operating lease commitments

Commitments for minimum lease payments are as payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

2018
$000

2017
$000

5 892
21 951
47 125

5 940
24 769
50 623

74 968

81 332

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived
from the leased properties.

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies – operating lease commitments
The Department has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office accommodation. Some of these leases
relate to buildings of a temporary nature and it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.
7.2.2 Capital commitments
2018
$000

2017
$000

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the
amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

19 561
61 490
-

45 362
33 660
-

Balance at end of period

81 051

79 022

The totals presented for capital commitments are GST inclusive.
The Department’s capital expenditure commitments relate to payments for the asset investment program.

8. Risks and Contingencies
This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of the Department.
NOTES

Financial risk management
Contingent assets
Contingent liabilities
Fair value measurements

8.1
8.2.1
8.2.2
8.3

8.1 Financial risk management
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables
and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s overall risk management program
focuses on managing the risks identified below.
(a) Summary of risks and risk management
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is a possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Department.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial asset
is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at note 8.1(c)
‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 6.1 ‘Receivables’.
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Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than Government, the Department trades only with
recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no
significant concentrations of credit risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Department is
exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.
The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by monitoring
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the
Department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department does not trade in foreign currency
and is not materially exposed to other price risks [for example, equity securities or commodity prices changes].
The Department’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily to the long‑term debt obligations.
Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at Note 8.1(e), the Department is not exposed to interest
rate risk because the majority of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non‑interest bearing and it has no
borrowings.
(b) Categories of financial instruments
2018
$000

2017
$000

53 813
32 069
46 066

107 694
54 189
45 760

131 948

207 643

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

12 428

13 693

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITY

12 428

13 693

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables(a)
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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(c) Ageing analysis of financial assets
PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED
CARRYING
AMOUNT

2018
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables(a)
Amounts receivable for services

2017
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables(a)
Amounts receivable for services

UP TO 1
MONTH

1–3 MONTHS

3 MONTHS TO
1 YEAR

1–5 YEARS

MORE THAN 5
YEARS

$000

NOT PAST
DUE AND NOT
IMPAIRED
$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

IMPAIRED
FINANCIAL
ASSETS
$000

53 813
32 069
4 703
41 363

53 813
32 069
1 954
41 363

2 609
-

76
-

49
-

1
-

-

14
-

131 948

129 199

2 609

76

49

1

-

14

107 694
54 189
6 886
38 874

107 694
54 189
6 567
38 874

241
-

6
-

65
-

7
-

-

-

207 643

207 324

241

6

65

7

-

-

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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(d) Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes
interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.
INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE AND MATURITY ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE
WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
EFFECTIVE
INTEREST
RATE
%

2018
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash
equivalents
Receivables(a)
Amount receivable for
services

Financial liabilities
Payables

2.12

CARRYING
AMOUNT

FIXED
INTEREST
RATE

VARIABLE
INTEREST
RATE

NONINTEREST
BEARING

NOMINAL
AMOUNT

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

53 813
32 069

-

30 939

53 813
1 130

53 813
32 069

4 703
41 363

-

-

4 703
41 363

131 948

-

30 939

12 428

-

12 428

-

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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MATURITY DATES
UP TO 1 1–3 MONTHS
MONTH

3 MONTHS
TO 1 YEAR

1–5 YEARS

MORE THAN
5 YEARS

$000

$000

$000

$000

53 813
32 069

-

-

-

-

4 703
41 363

4 703
-

-

-

41 363

-

101 009

131 948

90 585

-

-

41 363

-

-

12 428

12 428

12 428

-

-

-

-

-

12 428

12 428

12 428

-

-

-

-

(d) Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure (continued)
INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE AND MATURITY ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE
WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
EFFECTIVE
INTEREST
RATE
%

2017
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables(a)
Amount receivable for services

Financial liabilities
Payables

1.98

CARRYING
AMOUNT

FIXED
INTEREST
RATE

VARIABLE
INTEREST
RATE

NONINTEREST
BEARING

NOMINAL
AMOUNT

UP TO 1
MONTH

1–3
MONTHS

3 MONTHS
TO 1 YEAR

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

107 694
54 189
6 886
38 874

-

52 796
-

107 694
1 393
6 886
38 874

107 694
54 189
6 886
38 874

107 694
54 189
6 886
-

-

-

38 874

-

207 643

-

52 796

154 847

207 643

168 769

-

-

38 874

-

1–5 YEARS MORE THAN
5 YEARS

13 693

-

-

13 693

13 693

13 693

-

-

-

-

13 693

-

-

13 693

13 693

13 693

-

-

-

-

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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MATURITY DATES

(e) Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Department’s financial assets and liabilities at
the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that
the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.
−100 BASIS POINTS

+100 BASIS POINTS

CARRYING
AMOUNT
$000

SURPLUS

EQUITY

SURPLUS

EQUITY

$000

$000

$000

$000

2018
Financial assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents(a)

30 939

(309)

(309)

309

309

TOTAL INCREASE/(DECREASE)

30 939

(309)

(309)

309

309

2017
Financial assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents(a)

52 796

(528)

(528)

528

528

TOTAL INCREASE/(DECREASE)

52 796

(528)

(528)

528

528

(a) The Training and Muresk interest bearing accounts are the only cash balances within restricted cash subject to interest earnings.

8.2 Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of financial position but are disclosed and,
if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.
Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.
8.2.1 Contingent assets
The Department did not identify any contingent assets for the current reporting period.
8.2.2 Contingent liabilities
The following contingent liabilities are excluded from the liabilities included in the financial statements:
The Department is undertaking a review of its building portfolio to identify any potential risk associated with combustible
aluminium composite cladding. The costs associated with any potential remedial work cannot be reliably estimated until the
review has been completed.
Contaminated sites
The Department works together with the TAFE Colleges, as the site managing body, to maintain a safe environment for
site users. Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 (CSA), the Department is required to report known and suspected
contaminated sites to the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER). In accordance with the CSA, DWER
classifies these sites according to the anticipated risk to health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are
classified as ‘contaminated – remediation required’ or ‘possibly contaminated – investigation required’, the Department may
have liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.
The Department has previously identified one suspected contaminated site for which assessment and a partial remediation
process has been completed and the auditors’ recommendations were submitted to Landgate and DWER for review
and acceptance. The recommendations of the auditors’ report was that part of the site remediated is reclassified as
‘decontaminated’ with the remainder of the site to remain as ‘possibly contaminated – investigation required’.
Additionally, the Department has identified two possibly contaminated sites and is awaiting the outcome of assessments by
Landgate and DWER. The Department is unable to assess the likely outcome of the classification process, and accordingly it
is not practicable to estimate the potential financial effect or to identify the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of
any outflows. Whilst there is no possibility of reimbursement of any future expenses that may be incurred in the remediation
of these sites, the Department may apply for funding from DWER’s Contaminated Sites Management Account to undertake
further investigative work or to meet remediation costs that may be required.
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8.3 Fair value measurements
ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE:

LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

$000

$000

$000

FAIR VALUE AT
END OF PERIOD
$000

273
-

101
-

8 810
14 709

273
101
8 810
14 709

273

101

23 519

23 893

LEVEL 1

LEVEL 2

LEVEL 3

$000

$000

$000

FAIR VALUE AT
END OF PERIOD
$000

330
-

111
-

12 160
38 743

330
111
12 160
38 743

330

111

50 903

51 344

2018
Biological assets
Artwork
Land (Note 5.1)
Buildings (Note 5.1)

ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE:

2017
Biological assets
Artwork
Land (Note 5.1)
Buildings (Note 5.1)

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the current and previous periods.

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of Artwork are derived using the market approach.
Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

2018
Fair value at start of period
Transfers from work in progress
Transfer out to Government
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other comprehensive
income
Depreciation expense
FAIR VALUE AT END OF PERIOD

2017
Fair value at start of period
Transfers from work in progress
Disposals
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other comprehensive
income
Depreciation expense
Adjustment
FAIR VALUE AT END OF PERIOD
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LAND
$000

BUILDINGS
$000

12 160
(3 000)
(350)
-

38 743
226
(17 925)
(717)
(4 874)

-

(744)

8 810

14 709

LAND
$000

BUILDINGS
$000

11 701
459
-

26 257
8 897
(242)
4 672

-

(842)
1

12 160

38 743

Valuation processes
There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.
Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer. Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non‑current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s instructions
require valuations of land and buildings to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3
inputs on a recurring basis.
Land (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted
use land). The relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information
Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation
methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher values of comparator land
correlating with higher estimated fair values of land.
Buildings (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for existing use specialised buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future
economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the current replacement cost. Current replacement cost is generally determined
by reference to the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project
size specifications, adjusted for obsolescence. Obsolescence encompasses physical deterioration, functional (technological)
obsolescence and economic (external obsolescence).
Valuation using current replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of
asset which is estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics). The fair
value measurement is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate correlating
with lower estimated fair values of buildings.

9. Other disclosures
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the
understanding of this financial report.
NOTES

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
Future impact of Australian standard issued but not yet operative
Key management personnel
Related parties
Affiliated bodies
Remuneration of auditors
Equity
Supplementary financial information
Explanatory statement
Services provided free of charge
Indian Ocean Territories

9.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
The Department has not identified any material events after the end of the reporting period that would require any
adjustment or disclosure.
9.2 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. Where
applicable, the Department plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.
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9.1
9.2
9.3
9.4
9.5
9.6
9.7
9.8
9.9
9.10
9.11

OPERATIVE FOR
REPORTING
PERIODS
BEGINNING
ON/AFTER

AASB 9

Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
The Department has not yet determined the potential impact of this Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This Standard establishes the principles that the Department shall apply to report
useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer.
The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2019 after
being amended by AASB 2016-7.
The Department’s income is principally derived from appropriations which will be
measured under AASB 1058 and will be unaffected by this change. However, the
Department has not yet determined the potential impact of the Standard on
‘User charges and fees’ and ‘Sales’ revenues. In broad terms, it is anticipated that
the terms and conditions attached to these revenues will defer revenue recognition
until the Department has discharged its performance obligations.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 16

Leases
This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months,
unless the underlying asset is of low value.
Whilst the impact of AASB 16 has not yet been quantified, the Department currently
has commitments for $74,968,000 worth of non‑cancellable operating leases
which will mostly be brought onto the Statement of financial position. Interest and
amortisation expense will increase and rental expense will decrease.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 1058

Income of Not‑for‑Profit Entities
This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that
apply to not for profit (NFP) entities, more closely reflecting the economic reality
of NFP entity transactions that are not contracts with customers. Timing of income
recognition is dependent on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability or other
performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), or a contribution by
owners, related to an asset (such as cash or another asset) received by an agency.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 1059

Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors
This Standard addresses the accounting for a service concession arrangement
(a type of public private partnership) by a grantor that is a public sector agency by
prescribing the accounting for the arrangement from the grantor’s perspective.
Timing and measurement for the recognition of a specific asset class occurs on
commencement of the arrangement and the accounting for associated liabilities
is determined by whether the grantee is paid by the grantor or users of the public
service provided.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 2010-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136,
137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.
The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6
and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018.

1 Jan 2018
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OPERATIVE FOR
REPORTING
PERIODS
BEGINNING
ON/AFTER

AASB 2014-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments
to other Standards. These changes have no impact as Appendix E has been superseded
and the Model agency was not permitted to early adopt AASB 9.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15
This Standard gives effect to consequential amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The
mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8
to 1 January 2018. The Department has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December
2014)
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9
(December 2014). The Department has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2015-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB
15 to 1 January 2018 (instead of 1 January 2017). It also defers the consequential
amendments that were originally set out in AASB 2014-5. There is no financial impact
arising from this Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2016-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15
This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent
considerations, timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, and, provides
further transitional provisions to AASB 15. The Department has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact when the deferred AASB 15 becomes effective from
1 January 2019].

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2016-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not for
Profit Entities
This Standard defers, for not‑for‑profit entities, the mandatory application date of
AASB 15 to 1 January 2019, and the consequential amendments that were originally
set out in AASB 2014-5. There is no financial impact arising from this standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2016-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation
Guidance for Not for Profit Entities
This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative implementation
guidance for not‑for‑profit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. This guidance assists
not‑for‑profit entities in applying those Standards to particular transactions and other
events. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2019
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9.3 Key management personnel
The Department has determined key management personnel to include the Director General and senior officers of the
Department. The Department does not incur expenditures to compensate Ministers and those disclosures may be found in
the Annual Report on State Finances.
The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non‑monetary benefits and other benefits for senior officers of the Department for
the reporting period are presented within the following bands:
2018

2017

1
1
2
1
1
-

1
1
1
1
1
1

Short‑term employee benefits
Post‑employment benefits
Other long‑term benefits
Termination benefits

2018
$000
977
87
119
425

2017
$000
1 045
94
193
-

TOTAL COMPENSATION OF SENIOR OFFICERS

1 608

1 332

COMPENSATION BAND ($)

420 001 – 430 000
360 001 – 370 000
340 001 – 350 000
230 001 – 240 000
210 001 – 220 000
200 001 – 210 000
190 001 – 200 000
110 001 – 120 000

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers.

9.4 Related party transactions
The Department is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia.
Related parties of the Department include:
• all cabinet members and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
• other departments and statutory authorities, including related bodies, that are included in the whole of government
consolidated financial statements (i.e. wholly‑owned public sector entities);
• associates and joint ventures of a wholly‑owned public sector entity; and
• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).
Significant transactions with the government‑related entities
In conducting its activities, the Department is required to transact with the State and entities related to the State. These
transactions are generally based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all agencies. Such transactions include:
• income from State Government (note 4.1);
• equity contributions (note 9.7);
• lease rental payments to the Department of Finance (Government Office Accommodation and State Fleet) (note 3.3) and
related outstanding balances (Note 7.2.1);
• insurance payments to the Insurance Commission and Riskcover fund (note 3.3);
• grants provided to TAFE colleges (note 3.2);
• remuneration for services provided to the Auditor General (note 9.6).
Material transactions with other related parties
Such transactions include:
• superannuation payments to GESB (note 3.1(a));
Material transactions with other related parties
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Department, there were no other related party transactions that involved
key management personnel and/or their close family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities.
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9.5 Affiliated bodies
The table below are government affiliated bodies that received grants from the Department. These Training Councils are not
subject to operational control by the Department.

Community Services, Health and Education Training Council
Financial, Administrative and Professional Services Training Council
Food, Fibre & Timber Industries Training Council
Futurenow – Creative and Leisure Industries Training Council
Logistics Training Council
Retail and Personal Services Industry Training Council
Resources Industry Training Council
Utilities, Engineering, Electrical and Automotive Training Council

2018
$000

2017
$000

407
407
407
407
407
407
352
618

405
405
405
405
405
405
350
614

3 412

3 394

9.6 Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements controls and key
performance indicators

9.7 Equity

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period
Contribution by owners
Capital appropriations
Other contribution by owners
Royalties for Regions Fund – Regional Infrastructure and Headworks
Account
Royalties for Regions Fund – Regional Community Services Account
Contribution of capital funding from TAFE colleges
Contribution of capital funding from other sources
Transfer of net assets from other agencies
Transfer of assets from TAFE colleges
Transfer of asset from other government agencies
TOTAL CONTRIBUTION BY OWNERS

Distribution to owners
Transfer of net assets to other agencies:
Transfer of completed capital works projects to TAFE colleges
Transfers related to capital works projects to TAFE colleges
Transfers to other government agencies
Net assets transferred to Government:
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2018
$000

2017
$000

184

183

2018
$000

2017
$000

75 240

88 791

237

12 216

400

7 235

422
1 636
-

28
2 518
297

350

4 879
-

3 045

27 173

(57 719)

(36 184)

(3 661)

(1 987)

(350)

(2 553)

9.7 Equity (continued)

2018
$000

2017
$000

Return surplus cash to the Department of Treasury

(31 944)

-

Transfer out of the Goldfields Art Centre Land and Building

(20 925)

-

(114 599)

(40 724)

36 314

-

-

75 240

4 873

201

(4 873)

4 672

-

4 873

Accumulated surplus
Balance at start of period
Result for the period
Transfer of debit balance in contributed equity to accumulated surplus

189 562
(7 032)
(36 314)

120 675
68 887
-

Balance at end of period

146 216

189 562

TOTAL DISTRIBUTION TO OWNERS

Transfer of debit balance in contributed equity to accumulated surplus

Balance at the end of period
Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of period
Net revaluation increments/(decrements)
Land
Buildings

Balance at end of period

9.8 Supplementary financial information
(a) Write-offs
During the financial year, $244 844 (2017: $566 500) of debts due to the Department were written off under the authority of:

The accountable authority
Executive Council

2018
$000

2017
$000

245
-

567

245

567

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
During the financial year, there were no losses through theft, defaults or other causes.
(c) Gifts of public property
During the financial year, there were no gifts of public property provided by the Department.

9.9 Explanatory statement (Controlled Operations)
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2018, and between the actual results for 2018 and
2017 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key major variances, which are generally greater than:
• 5% and $11.0 million for the Statements of comprehensive income and cash flows, and
• 5% and $4.6 million for the Statement of financial position.

92 | ANNUAL REPORT 2017–18

9.9.1 Statement of comprehensive income variances

VARIANCE
NOTE

ORIGINAL
BUDGET 2018

ACTUAL
2018

ACTUAL
2017

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ESTIMATE AND
ACTUAL

$000

$000

$000

$000

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ACTUAL
RESULTS FOR
2018 AND 2017
$000

56 996
28 145
3 100
6 158
487 310
1 197

54 673
21 969
2 455
5 159
462 976
350
717
12 039

52 768
23 033
2 382
5 614
458 985
15
220
8 260

(2 323)
(6 176)
(645)
(999)
(24 334)
350
717
10 842

1 905
(1 064)
73
(455)
3 991
(15)
(220)
350
717
3 779

582 906

560 338

551 277

(22 568)

9 061

41 653
161 800
1 408
10 467

33 036
152 491
985
8 531

40 158
213 567
1 236
6 686

(8 617)
(9 309)
(423)
(1 936)

(7 122)
(61 076)
(251)
1 845

215 328

195 043

261 647

(20 285)

(66 604)

-

50
86

459
143

50
86

50
(459)
(57)

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Accommodation expense
Grants and subsidies
Loss arising from changes in net realisable value - inventories
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Loss arising from changes in fair value - land
Loss arising from changes in fair value - building
Other expenses

1

TOTAL COST OF SERVICES

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest revenue
Other revenue
TOTAL REVENUE

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Gain arising from changes in fair value - land
Gain arising from changes in fair value - livestock
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a

9.9.1 Statement of comprehensive income variances (continued)

ORIGINAL
BUDGET 2018

ACTUAL
2018

ACTUAL
2017

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ESTIMATE AND
ACTUAL

$000

$000

$000

$000

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ACTUAL
RESULTS FOR
2018 AND 2017
$000

TOTAL GAINS
TOTAL INCOME OTHER THAN FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

215 328

14
150
195 193

602
262 249

14
150
(20 135)

14
(452)
(67 056)

NET COST OF SERVICES

367 578

365 145

289 028

(2 433)

76 117

Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund

353 551
294
3 664

353 551
495
4 067

353 472
496
3 947

201
403

79
(1)
120

TOTAL INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

357 509

358 113

357 915

604

198

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD

(10 069)

(7 032)

68 887

3 037

(75 919)

-

(4 873)
(4 873)

4 672
4 672

(4 873)
(4 873)

(9 545)
(9 545)

(10 069)

(11 905)

73 559

(1 836)

(85 464)

Gain arising from changes in fair value - artwork

VARIANCE
NOTE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

Major estimate and actual (2018) variance narratives
1. Grants and subsidies expense was lower than estimates by $24.3 million (5%) largely due to lower levels of training demand and lower than expected training delivery for international
students.
Major actual (2018) and comparatives (2017) variance narratives
a. Commonwealth grants and contributions decreased by $61.1 million (28.6%) largely due to the cessation of the Commonwealth National Partnership Agreement on Skills Reform and a
reduction in the National Agreement for Skills and Workforce Development general recurrent funding.
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9.9.2 Statement of financial position variances

VARIANCE
NOTE

ORIGINAL
BUDGET 2018

ACTUAL
2018

ACTUAL
2017

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ESTIMATE AND
ACTUAL

$000

$000

$000

$000

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ACTUAL
RESULTS FOR
2018 AND 2017
$000

55 011
60 660
21
6 082
3 262

53 813
31 669
6
6 365
2 275

107 694
53 989
6
9 480
2 464

(1 198)
(28 991)
(15)
283
(987)

(53 881)
(22 320)
(3 115)
(189)

125 036

94 128

173 633

(30 908)

(79 505)

334
284
41 381
49 731
11 903

400
273
41 363
31 193
15 547

200
330
38 874
89 277
11 994

66
(11)
(18)
(18 538)
3 644

200
(57)
2 489
(58 084)
3 553

103 633
228 669

88 776
182 904

140 675
314 308

(14 857)
(45 765)

(51 899)
(131 404)

9 747
9 931
19 163

12 428
10 267
11 389

13 693
10 399
17 618

2 681
336
(7 774)

(1 265)
(132)
(6 229)

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

38 841

34 084

41 710

(4 757)

(7 626)

Non‑current liabilities
Employee related provisions

2 986

2 604

2 923

(382)

(319)

2 986
41 827
186 842

2 604
36 688
146 216

2 923
44 633
269 675

(382)
(5 139)
(40 626)

(319)
(7 945)
(123 459)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Inventories
Receivables
Other assets

b
2, c

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

Non‑current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Biological assets
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

3, d

TOTAL NON‑CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables
Employee related provisions
Other current liabilities

TOTAL NON‑CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
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4, e

9.9.2 Statement of financial position variances (continued)

VARIANCE
NOTE

ORIGINAL
BUDGET 2018

ACTUAL
2018

ACTUAL
2017

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ESTIMATE AND
ACTUAL

$000

$000

$000

$000

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ACTUAL
RESULTS FOR
2018 AND 2017
$000

5 652
202
180 988

146 216

75 240
4 873
189 562

(5 652)
(202)
(34 772)

(75 240)
(4 873)
(43 346)

186 842

146 216

269 675

(40 626)

(123 459)

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Asset revaluation reserve
Accumulated surplus
TOTAL EQUITY

5, f
g

Major estimate and actual (2018) variance narratives
2. Restricted cash and cash equivalents is lower than estimates by $29 million (47.8%) largely due to the return of surplus cash to the Consolidated Account.
3. Property, plant and equipment was lower than estimates by $18.5 million (37.3%) largely due to a transfer of land and buildings to the Department of Local Government, Sport and
Cultural Industries and revaluation decrements.
4. Other current liabilities was lower than estimates by $7.8 million (40.6%) largely due to a reduction in income received in advance as a result of lower than anticipated receipt of user
charges and fees.
5. Contributed equity was lower than estimates by $5.7 million (100%) largely due to the timing of the transfer of completed capital works projects to the TAFE colleges.
Major actual (2018) and comparatives (2017) variance narratives
b. Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $53.9 million (50%) largely due to surplus cash returned to the Consolidated Account, funding training demand from cash reserves and timing of
expenditure on TAFE sector capital works projects.
c. Restricted cash and cash equivalents decreased by $22.3 million (41.3%) largely due to the return of surplus cash to the Consolidated Account.
d. Property, plant and equipment decreased by $58.1 million (65.1%) largely due to a net transfer of assets for capital works projects carried out on behalf of the TAFE colleges, a transfer
of land and building to the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries and revaluation decrements.
e. Other current liabilities decreased by $6.2 million (35.4%) largely due to a reduction in income received in advance as a result of lower than anticipated receipt of user charges and fees.
f. Contributed equity decreased by $75.2 million (100%) largely due to a net transfer of assets for capital works projects carried out on behalf of the TAFE colleges and a transfer of land
and building to the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries.
g. Asset revaluation reserve decreased by $4.9 million (100%) due to a revaluation decrement in land and buildings.
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9.9.3 Statement of cash flows variances

VARIANCE
NOTE

ORIGINAL
BUDGET 2018

ACTUAL
2018

ACTUAL
2017

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ESTIMATE AND
ACTUAL

$000

$000

$000

$000

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ACTUAL
RESULTS FOR
2018 AND 2017
$000

351 044
237
4 707
-

351 062
237
4 889
1 500
(31 944)
(1 182)

351 615
12 216
11 210
2 579
-

18
182
1 500
(31 944)
(1 182)

(553)
(11 979)
(6 321)
(1 079)
(31 944)
(1 182)

355 988

324 562

377 620

(31 426)

(53 058)

(59 625)
(34 208)
(487 310)
(20 821)

(54 922)
(37 510)
(460 770)
(15 565)

(51 670)
(33 952)
(459 613)
(19 561)

4 703
(3 302)
26 540
5 256

(3 252)
(3 558)
(1 157)
3 996

42 653
161 800
1 408
840
19 981
9 467

27 666
152 191
1 063
966
14 385
7 218

38 096
213 867
1 384
760
17 520
7 362

(14 987)
(9 609)
(345)
126
(5 596)
(2 249)

(10 430)
(61 676)
(321)
206
(3 135)
(144)

(365 815)

(365 278)

(285 807)

537

(79 471)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Capital appropriations
Royalties for Regions Fund
Contribution of capital funding from other sources
Payment to Consolidated Account
Repayment of Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 appropriation

h

6, i

NET CASH PROVIDED BY STATE GOVERNMENT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services and other expenses
Grants and subsidies
GST payments on purchases

Receipts
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest received
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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7

8
j

9.9.3 Statement of cash flows variances (continued)

VARIANCE
NOTE

ORIGINAL
BUDGET 2018

ACTUAL
2018

ACTUAL
2017

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ESTIMATE AND
ACTUAL

$000

$000

$000

$000

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ACTUAL
RESULTS FOR
2018 AND 2017
$000

(32 000)

(35 351)

(54 059)

(3 351)

18 708

-

66

72

66

(6)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(32 000)

(35 285)

(53 987)

(3 285)

18 702

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(41 827)

(76 001)

37 826

(34 174)

(113 827)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD

157 832

161 883

124 057

4 051

37 826

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

116 005

85 882

161 883

(30 123)

(76 001)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchases of non‑current assets

Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non‑current assets

k

Major estimate and actual (2018) variance narratives
6. Payment to Consolidated Account is greater than estimates by $31.9 million due to the return of surplus cash to the Consolidated Account.
7. Grants and subsidies was lower than estimates by $26.5 million (5.5%) largely due to lower levels of training demand and lower than expected training delivery for international
students.
8. User charges and fees was lower than estimates by $15 million (35.1%) largely due to lower international student enrolments.
Major actual (2018) and comparatives (2017) variance narratives
h. Capital appropriations decreased by $12.0 million (98%) largely due to progress of capital projects.
i. Payment to Consolidated Account increased by $31.9 million due to the return of surplus cash to the Consolidated Account.
j. Commonwealth grants and contributions decreased by $61.7 million (28.8%) largely due to the cessation of the Commonwealth National Partnership Agreement on Skills Reform and a
reduction in the National Agreement for Skills and Workforce Development general recurrent funding.
k. Purchase of non‑current assets decreased by $18.7 million (34.6%) largely due to the timing of capital works projects carried out on behalf of the TAFE colleges.
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9.10 Services provided free of charge
During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge:

Department of Education Services
Office of the Government Chief Information Officer
North Metropolitan TAFE
South Metropolitan TAFE
North Regional TAFE
Central Regional TAFE
South Regional TAFE
WA Academy of Performing Arts (Edith Cowan University)

2018
$000

2017
$000

13

13

9
6 942
5 521
1 733
1 623
1 655
22

5 965
6 807
1 621
1 476
1 707
22

17 518

17 611

2018
$000

2017
$000

(6)

2

176
(161)

140
(148)

9

(6)

9.11 Indian Ocean Territories
Reconciliation of Commonwealth funds received and expended for the Indian Ocean Territories

Opening balance
Receipts
Payments

Closing balance
10. Administered disclosures
This section sets out all of the statutory disclosures regarding the financial performance of the entity.

NOTES

Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service
Explanatory statement for administered items
Administered assets and liabilities
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10.1
10.2
10.3

10.1 Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service
WORKFORCE PLANNING
AND DEVELOPMENT

DEVELOPMENT OF
VOCATIONAL EDUCATION
AND TRAINING POLICY AND
PROGRAMS
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

For transfer:
Temporary Worker (Skilled) Visa Holder
(Subclass 457) Child School Fee

-

-

-

TOTAL ADMINISTERED INCOME

-

-

Expense
Payment to the consolidated account

-

TOTAL ADMINISTERED EXPENSE

-

CAREER AND WORKFORCE
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

SKILLED MIGRATION,
INCLUDING OVERSEAS
QUALIFICATION
ASSESSMENT
2018
2017
$000
$000

APPRENTICESHIP
AND TRAINEESHIP
ADMINISTRATION AND
REGULATION
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS
Income
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10.1 Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service (continued)
PROCUREMENT OF
TRAINING

RECRUITMENT AND
MANAGEMENT OF
INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS
2018
2017
$000
$000

INFRASTRUCTURE
MANAGEMENT FOR TAFE
COLLEGES
2018
2017
$000
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

-

-

4 014

4 286

-

TOTAL ADMINISTERED INCOME

-

-

4 014

4 286

Expense
Payment to the consolidated account

-

-

4 014

TOTAL ADMINISTERED EXPENSE

-

-

4 014

SUPPORT SERVICES TO TAFE
COLLEGES

TOTAL

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

-

-

-

4 014

4 286

-

-

-

-

4 014

4 286

4 286

-

-

-

-

4 014

4 286

4 286

-

-

-

-

4 014

4 286

INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS
Income
For transfer:
Temporary Worker (Skilled) Visa Holder
(Subclass 457) Child School Fee
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10.2 Explanatory statement for administered items
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2018, and between the actual results for 2018 and 2017 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key major
variances, which are generally greater than 5% and $86 000.
VARIANCE
NOTE

ORIGINAL
BUDGET 2018

ACTUAL
2018

ACTUAL
2017

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ESTIMATE
AND ACTUAL

$000

$000

$000

$000

VARIANCE
BETWEEN
ACTUAL
RESULTS FOR
2018 AND
2017
$000

5 360

4 014

4 286

(1 346)

(272)

5 360

4 014

4 286

(1 346)

(272)

5 360

4 014

4 286

(1 346)

(272)

5 360

4 014

4 286

(1 346)

(272)

INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS
Income
For transfer:
Temporary Worker (Skilled) Visa Holder (Subclass 457) Child School Fee

1, a

TOTAL ADMINISTERED INCOME

Expense
Payment to the consolidated account
TOTAL ADMINISTERED EXPENSE

1, a

Major estimate and actual (2018) variance narratives
1. Variance reflects falling student numbers - the Department of Education has subsequently reduced budget estimates for the out years.
Major actual (2018) and comparatives (2017) variance narratives
a. Variance reflects falling student numbers.

102 | ANNUAL REPORT 2017–18

10.3 Administered assets and liabilities
2018
$000

2017
$000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

1 252

1 511

TOTAL ADMINISTERED CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ADMINISTERED ASSETS

1 252
1 252

1 511
1 511

Current liabilities
Payables

1 252

1 511

TOTAL ADMINISTERED CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL ADMINISTERED LIABILITIES

1 252
1 252

1 511
1 511
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The year at a glance

Certification of key
performance indicators

Our organisation

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate
for assisting users to assess the Department of Training and Workforce Development’s performance, and fairly
represent the performance of the Department of Training and Workforce Development for the financial year ended
30 June 2018.

Performance

For the year ended 30 June 2018

Significant issues

ANNE DRISCOLL
Director General
Disclosures and legal compliance

24 August 2018

Appendices
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KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS

A skilled workforce that meets the State’s
economic and community needs

Extent to which career and workforce development advice
provided to clients results in employment or training outcomes
Proportion of State nominated skilled migrants employed in
priority occupations after arrival
Proportion of delivery in training aligned with State
priority occupations
Proportion of graduates satisfied with the overall quality
of training

Workforce planning and development

Average cost per industry and stakeholder contact

Development of VET policy and programs

Average cost of meeting major policy milestones

Career and workforce development services

Average cost per career and workforce development
centre client contact

Skilled migration, including overseas
qualification assessment

Average cost to administer migration applications and overseas
qualification assessments

Apprenticeship and traineeship administration
and regulation

Average cost per active training contract

Procurement of training

Cost per student curriculum hour

Recruitment and management of
international students

Average cost of recruitment and management per full time
equivalent international student

Infrastructure management for TAFE colleges

Average cost to administer training infrastructure per TAFE college

Support services to TAFE colleges

Average cost to administer support services per TAFE college
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KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS

Disclosures and legal compliance

SERVICES

Significant issues

A flexible, responsive, innovative and quality
training system

Performance

DESIRED OUTCOMES

Our organisation

Each of the Department’s desired outcomes contributes to the Government goal Future Jobs and Skills: grow and diversify
the economy, create jobs and support skills development.

The year at a glance

The Department’s outcome based management framework
was developed in consultation with the Department of
Treasury and the Office of the Auditor General.
The effectiveness and efficiency indicators reflect a broad
scope of the Department’s services.

Contents

Data for this indicator are derived from a Department
survey of clients. In 2017–18, the survey was sent to 7,705
clients and there were 2,098 responses (a response rate of
27%). Of these, 1,325 clients had an employment, career
or training outcome. The survey confidence interval at the
95% confidence level was ±1.76%.

2017–18 TARGET

2017–18 ACTUAL

2016–17 ACTUAL

70.0%

63.1%

69.7%

OEI 2.1: Proportion of delivery in training aligned
with State priority occupations
OEI 2.1 measures the hours of publicly funded delivery
in priority training as a proportion of all publicly funded
delivery. A higher proportion indicates the training system
is more responsive to the employment and skill needs of
the State and flexible in adapting to the State’s priorities.
Hours are calculated based on the 2017 calendar year.
In 2017, there was a total of 31,168,493 publicly funded
delivery hours. Of these, 19,636,113 hours were delivered
in priority training areas. Priority training areas are
those qualifications/courses eligible for an entitlement,
plus other foundation and equity courses where the
Government subsidises the majority of course costs (i.e. all
training other than general industry training).

OEI 1.2: Proportion of State nominated
skilled migrants employed in priority
occupations after arrival

Data for this indicator are derived from a Department
survey of clients. The survey was sent to the 68 skilled
migrants who had registered with the Department since
1 July 2017, of which 64 responded (a response rate
of 94.1%). The survey confidence interval at the 95%
confidence level was ±2.99%. In 2017–18, there were 48
respondents who were living in WA. Of these, 25 clients
were employed in a priority occupation.
Table 2: Proportion of State nominated skilled migrants
employed in priority occupations after arrival
2017–18
ACTUAL

2016–17
ACTUAL

VARIANCE

70.0%

52.1%

67.8%

Note1

2016–17 ACTUAL

65%

63.0%

65.4%

Source: DTWD VET Enrolment Collection

OEI 2.2: Proportion of graduates satisfied with
the overall quality of training
OEI 2.2 measures the proportion of vocational education
and training graduates in Western Australia who are
satisfied with the overall quality of training. A higher
proportion indicates a better quality training system.
Data for this indicator are derived from a National Centre for
Vocational Education Research survey. There were 20,723
Western Australian graduates in scope in the sample and 8,033
responses (a response rate of 38.8%). The survey confidence
level interval at the 95% confidence level was ±0.7%.
Table 4: Proportion of graduates satisfied with the overall
quality of training
2017–18 TARGET

2017–18 ACTUAL

2016–17 ACTUAL

90%

88.7%

87.4%

Source: National Centre for Vocational Education Research,
Student Outcomes Survey 2017
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2017–18
TARGET

2017–18 ACTUAL

Disclosures and legal compliance

OEI 1.2 measures the number of migrants nominated
under Western Australia’s State Nominated Migration
Program (SNMP) and residing in Western Australia who
are working in a priority occupation. A higher proportion
indicates the SNMP is supplementing the State’s workforce
with a more appropriate skilled migration intake.

2017–18 TARGET

Significant issues

Table 3: Proportion of delivery in training aligned with State
priority occupations

Source: DTWD survey

Performance

Table 1: Extent to which career and workforce
development advice provided to clients results in
employment or training outcomes

The variance from the target and the 2016–17 actual is difficult
to generalise due to the small population size, which resulted
from a reduced number of nominations in recent program years.
Employability factors that affect migrants are not captured as a
part of the survey.

1

Our organisation

OEI 1.1 measures the proportion of Career Centre and
Aboriginal Workforce Development Centre clients who
entered employment, education or training, changed
employment or made a career decision, choice or plan after
receiving direct assistance. A higher proportion indicates
greater development and use of skills in the workforce.

Source: DTWD survey

The year at a glance

OEI 1.1: Extent to which career and workforce
development advice provided to clients results
in employment or training outcomes

Contents

Table 6: Average cost of meeting major policy milestones
2017–18
TARGET

2017–18
ACTUAL

2016–17
ACTUAL

VARIANCE

$27,937

$25,087

$22,147

Note3

The Department works closely with industry, the
community and across government in gathering and
analysing workforce data and intelligence to identify the
State’s workforce development and training priorities.

Source: DTWD finance and administrative data

SEI 1.1 measures the average cost (including overheads)
per formal contact on workforce planning and
development matters with external organisations identified
on an endorsed stakeholder list. Grants to industry training
councils are excluded from the total cost.

The variance from the 2017–18 target largely reflects lower than
anticipated contract for service expenditure and overhead cost
allocation. The variance from the 2016–17 actual is due to a slight
reduction in the number of Ministerial briefing notes combined
with increased costs reflecting the impact of the Voluntary Targeted
Separation Scheme and the overhead cost allocation.

Table 5: Average cost per industry and stakeholder contact
2017–18
ACTUAL

2016–17
ACTUAL

VARIANCE

$3,131

$2,115

$2,841

Note2

Source: DTWD finance and administrative data

Career and workforce development services provide
education and training information, and career guidance to
the Western Australian community, as well as employment,
training and mentoring services to Aboriginal people and
communities.
SEI 3.1 measures the average cost (including overheads) of
providing career and workforce development services per
client contact. A lower cost indicates a more cost effective
provision of career and workforce development services.
The total number of client contacts was 34,544, including
6,551 at the Career Centre, 3,361 at Aboriginal Workforce
Development Centres, 20,034 at contracted Career
Centres, 1,854 at contracted Aboriginal Workforce
Development Centres and 2,744 at Jobs and Skills Centres.

SEI2.1: Average cost of meeting major
policy milestones

Table 7: Average cost per career and workforce
development centre client contact

The Department develops policies and programs that
promote the effective and efficient operation of the
State’s vocational education and training system. Policy
and program development is aligned to the Department’s
strategic direction for workforce development and training
including higher education and the school sector.
SEI 2.1 measures the cost of Policy, Planning and Research
branch (including overheads) per Ministerial briefing
note. A lower cost indicates more cost effective policy and
program development.
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2017–18
TARGET

2017–18
ACTUAL

2016–17
ACTUAL

VARIANCE

$363

$354

$305

Note4

Source: DTWD finance and administrative data
The variance from the 2016–17 actual is due largely to a
reduction in client contacts. Numbers of Perth Career Centre and
Aboriginal Workforce Development Centre contacts decreased in
2017–18 in the lead up to the services transitioning to the TAFE
Jobs and Skills Centres in April 2018.

4

Appendices

The number of Ministerial briefing notes in 2017–18 was
288. Total costs were $7,225,138.

Total expenditure on career and workforce development
centres in 2017–18 was $12,229,824.

Disclosures and legal compliance

The variance from the 2016–17 actual is due to a greater than
expected number of stakeholder consultations in relation to
training product review and development, and regional labour
market reviews in the Goldfields-Esperance and Great Southern
regions. The variance from the target is due in part to this increase
in stakeholder consultations, as well as lower than anticipated
contract for service expenditure and overhead cost allocation.
2

Significant issues

2017–18
TARGET

SEI3.1: Average cost per career and workforce
development centre client contact

Performance

In 2017–18 there were 2,668 formal contacts with
stakeholders. These include planning meetings and official
correspondence via letters, emails and scheduled phone calls.

3

Our organisation

A lower cost indicates more cost effective coordination of
workforce planning and development consultations. Total
costs for 2017–18 were $5,643,241.

The year at a glance

SEI1.1: Average cost per industry and
stakeholder contact

Contents

SEI 4.1 measures the average cost (including overheads) to
process migration and overseas qualification applications.
A lower cost indicates a more cost effective process
for assessing overseas qualifications and administering
migration program applications.

2017–18
TARGET

2017–18
ACTUAL

2016–17
ACTUAL

VARIANCE

$250

$285

$247

Note6

Source: DTWD finance data and WA Apprenticeship
Management System
The variance from the target is due to an overestimate in the
2017–18 target, which was based on the expected introduction of
the national Skilling Australians Fund which did not eventuate. The
variance from the 2016–17 actual is due to:
6

1. a decline in actual numbers of trainees as a result of changes to
the Office of State Revenue pay roll tax exemptions for existing
worker trainees; and
2. an increase in costs, largely due to the impact of the Voluntary
Targeted Separation Scheme and the overhead cost allocation.

Our organisation

Skilled migration, including overseas qualification assessment,
assesses applications from intending skilled migrants who wish
to migrate to Western Australia, and assesses post-secondary
qualifications gained overseas for Western Australian residents.
The service aims to facilitate skilled migration to WA to
supplement the local workforce and enable overseas trained
residents to access education, training and employment
through recognition of overseas qualifications.

Table 9: Average cost per active training contract

The year at a glance

SEI4.1: Average cost to administer migration
applications and overseas qualification
assessments

In 2017–18 there were 2,629 migration applications and
qualification assessments. Total expenditure was $1,123,387.

2017–18
TARGET

2017–18
ACTUAL

2016–17
ACTUAL

VARIANCE

$719

$427

$376

Note5

SEI5.1: Average cost per active training contract
Apprenticeship and traineeship administration and
regulation includes registration of training contracts
and administration of contract variations, educating
participants on training contract and legislation
requirements, dispute resolution and monitoring of
legislative compliance.

In 2017–18 there were 32,964 active training contracts
(this figure is weighted according to the number of days
contracts were active during the year). Total expenditure was
$9,401,203.
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SEI 5.1 measures the average cost to Apprenticeship Office
(including overheads) of administering apprenticeship
and traineeship training contracts. A lower cost indicates
more cost effective administration and regulation of
apprenticeships and traineeships.

Disclosures and legal compliance

The variance from the target is largely due to the impact of the
redesign of the migration services function and reduction in the
overhead cost allocation, as well as one-off savings. The variance
from 2016–17 to 2017–18 is due to a significant reduction in
the number of skilled migration applications due to the reduced
number of occupations on the Western Australian Skilled
Migration Occupation List for the State Nominated Migration
Program and the removal of the Perth metropolitan area from the
Regional Sponsored Migration Scheme.

5

Significant issues

Source: DTWD finance and administrative data

Performance

Table 8: Average cost to administer migration applications
and overseas qualification assessments

Contents

SEI6.1: Cost per student curriculum hour

The number of funded hours in 2017 was 31,168,553. Total
expenditure on procurement of training in 2017–18 was
$438,187,372.
Table 10: Cost per student curriculum hour

$9.32

$9.75

$9.30

Apprentices
and trainees
(Certificate IV
and below)

$12.79

$14.53

$12.77

Priority industry
training
(Certificate I to
Certificate IV)

$12.23

$12.92

$12.21

General
$14.99
industry training
(Certificate I to
Certificate IV)

$15.84

$14.96

Foundation skills $15.73
courses

$17.77

$15.70

Table 11: Average cost of recruitment and management
per full time equivalent international student
Note7

2017–18
TARGET

2017–18
ACTUAL

2016–17
ACTUAL

VARIANCE

$1,501

$1,567

$1,397

Note8

Source: DTWD finance and TAFE WA International enrolment data
The variance from the 2016–17 actual largely relates to a
reduction in international student numbers. The main drivers
of this decline are: increasing competition from other States
and private training providers; the student visa settings of
the Department of Home Affairs which have required TAFE
International WA to reduce student numbers from previous high
growth markets in order to manage immigration risks effectively;
and softening of WA’s labour market which reduces employment
opportunities for overseas students.

8

Note7

Source: DTWD finance data and VET Enrolment Collection
Variances from the 2017–18 target and 2016–17 actual are
mainly due to the misalignment between calendar year student
data and the repositioning of training funds across financial years.
The overall cost per student curriculum hour on a calendar year
basis across 2016 and 2017 is not materially different.

7

Disclosures and legal compliance

Diploma and
above

Significant issues

2016–17 VARIANCE
ACTUAL

The total number of international full time equivalent
student enrolments in 2017–18 was 6,254. Total
expenditure, excluding grants to training providers and
schools, was $9,798,373.

Performance

2017–18 2017–18
TARGET ACTUAL

SEI 7.1 measures the average cost per student (including
overheads) to recruit and monitor compliance of
international students. A lower cost indicates more
efficient management of the international education and
training business.

Our organisation

SEI 6.1 measures the average value of Government subsidy
per student curriculum hour for each funding category.
Hours are reported on a calendar year non-adjusted endof-study basis. A lower cost indicates a more cost effective
administration of the State training system.

Recruitment and management of international students
involves the marketing of Western Australian TAFE colleges
and public schools off shore and on shore, and the
management of admissions, compliance and the welfare of
international students according to relevant legislation.

The year at a glance

Procurement of training comprises the purchasing of
training delivery services from TAFE colleges and private
training providers in accordance with the State’s priorities
and the State Training Plan. The service is differentiated
according to the major Future Skills WA funding categories.

SEI7.1: Average cost of recruitment and
management per full time equivalent
international student

Appendices
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Infrastructure management for TAFE colleges includes the
maintenance, administration and strategic development of
land and buildings used to deliver publicly funded training
in campuses across the State.

Total costs in 2017–18 (excluding grants and capital
program costs, lease costs and infrastructure
administration costs borne by the colleges) were
$2,740,081.

Our organisation

SEI 8.1 measures the average cost per TAFE college
(including overheads) for providing training infrastructure
management services and support. A lower cost indicates
more efficient administration of training infrastructure
management.

The year at a glance

SEI8.1: Average cost to administer training
infrastructure per TAFE college

Table 12: Average cost to administer training infrastructure
per TAFE college
2017–18 ACTUAL

2016–17 ACTUAL

$507,389

$548,016

$547,826

Source: DTWD finance data

Support services to TAFE colleges include the supply,
management and maintenance of information and
communication technology, finance, and human
resource services.

Total costs in 2017–18 (excluding ICT and other costs borne
by the colleges) were $35,159,068.
Table 13: Average cost to administer support services per
TAFE college
2017–18
TARGET

2017–18
ACTUAL

2016–17
ACTUAL

VARIANCE

$7,958,503

$7,031,814

$6,706,818

Note9

Disclosures and legal compliance

SEI 9.1 measures the average cost per TAFE college
(including overheads) for providing corporate services, and
information and communication technology (ICT) systems
and support. A lower cost indicates more cost effective
delivery of support services for the TAFE network.

Significant issues

SEI9.1: Average cost to administer support
services per TAFE college

Performance

2017–18 TARGET

Source: DTWD finance data
The variance from the target is largely due to lower than
anticipated salaries, services and contracts and the overhead
cost allocation.

9

Appendices
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Table 1: Course fees in 2018

No Ministerial directives were received during the
financial year.

CATEGORY OF
ENROLMENT

Other financial disclosures
Pricing policies of services provided

Diploma, Advanced Diploma and existing
worker traineeships

$5.79

Apprenticeships, traineeships* and
priority industry qualifications
(up to Certificate IV)

$3.25

General industry training
(up to Certificate IV)

$4.88

Foundation skills and equity courses

$0.21

Concession student
$1.74

Apprenticeships, traineeships* and priority
industry qualifications (up to Certificate IV)

$0.97

General industry training (up to Certificate IV)

$1.47

Foundation skills and equity courses

$0.21

*Excludes existing worker traineeships

Significant issues

Concession-eligible Diploma and
Advanced Diploma courses

Performance

For vocational courses, a course fee is charged which is
the sum of fees for all units in which the student enrols.
Providers may also charge fees for resources consumed or
used by students during the course of their study. This is
set by training providers and students must be notified in
advance of enrolment. Fees are calculated at an hourly rate
based on nominal hours for each unit commenced in 2018.
The course fee structure for 2018 is outlined in table 1.

Non-concession student

Our organisation

The fees charged by public providers for VET delivery are
governed by section 67 of the Vocational Education and
Training Act 1996, and Part 3 Division 2 and Schedule
1 of the Vocational Education and Training (Colleges)
Regulations 1996. All publicly funded VET providers
are required to charge fees in accordance with the
Department’s VET Fees and Charges Policy 2018.

FEE RATE
PER
NOMINAL
HOUR

The year at a glance

Ministerial directives

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Supporting new and improved
TAFE facilities

The State Training Asset Management Plan (STAMP) provides
a strategic asset plan for the State training sector.

The following capital works projects were completed in the
2017–18 financial year:

The Plan:
• highlights infrastructure priorities to improve quality
and relevance of facilities;

• Stage 4 of the Murdoch campus – $41.97 million

• recommends new infrastructure funding proposals to
the State Government;

• Aged care and nursing studies at Northam campus –
$738,000

• shows where critical remedial works are needed;

• Albany scorecard program of remedial works –
$2.2 million

• redevelops outdated campus facilities; and

TAFE colleges inform the STAMP by providing individual strategic
infrastructure plans to the Department every two years.
*The status of these projects reflects progress in relation to the
completion and occupation of the building. Projects in the Major
Capital Projects section include all capital works projects that have
recorded expenditure against them in the financial year.

• Re-roofing of G and P blocks at Geraldton – $708,000

Significant issues

• increases utilisation of facilities by ensuring ageing
facilities are fit for purpose.

• Stage 4 of the Murdoch campus forward works
(services upgrade) – $4.53 million

Performance

Other major capital works

Our organisation

State Training Asset Management Plan

Disclosures and legal compliance
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South Metropolitan TAFE, Murdoch campus. Photo credit: Rob Frith
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Projects in progress
PROJECT

EXPECTED
COMPLETION
DATE

ACTUAL
EXPENDITURE
2017–18
$000

ACTUAL
EXPENDITURE
2016–17

ESTIMATED
COST TO
COMPLETE

(INCLUDES
$000
CAPITAL GRANTS)
($000)

ESTIMATED
TOTAL
COST

$000

829

825

4,000

North
Metropolitan
TAFE

Major roof remediation at
25 Aberdeen Street

July 2019

2,218

Nil

1,739

3,957

North
Metropolitan
TAFE

Remediation and
replacement of air
conditioning chillers and air
handling units – East Perth

Jan 2019

1,409

Nil

991

2,400

South
Metropolitan
TAFE

Murdoch Blocks B and
H repurposing

Sept 2018

327

Nil

448

775

North
Regional
TAFE

Creation of a student hub at
the Pundulmurra campus

July 2019

132

21

2,247

2,400

North
Regional
TAFE

Remediation and replacement July 2019
of air conditioning at various
campuses

57

684

3,259

4,000

New remedial
works project

Campus scorecards –
the assessment and
implementation of
necessary remedial works
to extend lifespan of current
infrastructure. Following
campuses have commenced:
• Bunbury ($5 million)

July 2019

$1,242

Nil

3,758

5,000

• Kalgoorlie ($4 million)

July 2019

$1,164

529

2,307

4,000

• Bentley ($5 million)

July 2022

$139

814

4,047

5,000

• Karratha ($4.05 million)

July 2020

$235

56

4,209

4,500

• Carlisle ($8.5 million)

July 2022

$56

Nil

8,444

8,500

Disclosures and legal compliance

636

Significant issues

July 2021

Performance

Mt Lawley campus*

Our organisation

North
Metropolitan
TAFE

The year at a glance

TAFE COLLEGE

*Part of campus scorecards

Appendices
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EMPLOYEE PROFILE
MALE

2016–17
FEMALE

MALE

2017–18
FEMALE

196

356

176

306

Employee median age (headcount)

46.6

45

46.1

44.3

Employment arrangement: part time (headcount)

11

72

11

62

Employment arrangement: full time (headcount)

185

284

165

244

478

428.5

Employee work location: regional (FTE)

18

11.5

Employment status: permanent (headcount)

504

420

Employment status: fixed term (headcount)

48

62

Employment status: casual (headcount)

0

0

Significant issues

Employee work location: metropolitan (FTE)

Performance

Employee by gender (headcount)

Our organisation

The Department employs public service officers who are
primarily located in the metropolitan area. In 2017–18
there were 440 Full Time Equivalent employees in
the Department.

Source: Human Resources Management Information System, 30 June 2018.
Note: Includes officers on secondment from other Government agencies.

Industrial relations

In 2017–18, the Department provided:

The Department’s Human Resources branch coordinates
workplace and industrial matters where there are
implications in the wider context of the State training sector.
This includes providing labour relations advice and support
to the Department and to TAFE colleges. In 2017–18,
the Department negotiated in principle agreement with
the State School Teachers’ Union of WA for a new TAFE
Lecturer’s Industrial Agreement.

• a calendar of professional development for staff;
• training programs for managers and supervisors;
• a comprehensive induction program offered to all new
employees;
• a government traineeship program; and
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Governance disclosures: contracts with
senior officers
At the date of reporting, no senior officers, or firms of
which senior officers are members, or entities in which
senior officers have substantial interests, had any interests
in existing or proposed contracts with the Department
other than normal contracts of employment.

Appendices

• an interagency mentoring program with the
Department of Finance; the Department of Treasury;
the Department of Planning, Heritage and Lands;
Lotterywest; the Mental Health Commission; and the
Economic Regulation Authority.

Disclosures and legal compliance

Learning and development

Contents

Disability access and inclusion plan outcomes

PROGRESS 2017–18

Access and inclusion principles are embedded and
included in the Department’s:

The Department ensures compliance with the Public Sector
Standards by:
• providing information about the standards in relevant
human resource management policies and resources;
• providing an advisory and consultancy service to staff on
standards related matters;

• review and development of the Participation
Program; and

• notifying job applicants of their rights and obligations
prescribed by the regulations; and

• briefings relating to skills, learning and workforce
participation of people with disability.

• requiring all new staff to complete training in
accountable and ethical decision making.

Employing People with Disability resources are
available on the new Jobs and Skills WA website.

Policies are available on the intranet for all employees
to access. Different formats are available upon request.
Disability Awareness training was provided by a person
with disability during disability awareness week and
promoted through the Department’s training calendar.
A number of campus infrastructure projects have been
identified to improve access for people with disability.
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Management of complaints
General complaints are managed in accordance with the
Department’s Complaints Management Policy
which conforms to Australian Standard and Public Sector
requirements. In 2017–18, 63 complaints from members of
the public were received and satisfactorily resolved.
Internal grievance issues are managed in accordance
with the Grievance Resolution Policy consistent with
relevant legislation, the Public Sector Code of Ethics,
the Department’s Code of Conduct and relevant
Department policies.
The Australian Government’s National Training Complaints
Hotline set up in early 2015 resides with the Department,
receiving complaints referred by the Australian Government
to Western Australia. The Department’s Complaints
Management Policy applies for complaints received about
its own products and services. All other complaints are
referred to relevant agencies for action. Quarterly updates
are provided to Corporate Executive.

Appendices

The fit-out for Jobs and Skill Centres at specified TAFE
campuses is improving access for people with disability.

The Department reports potential misconduct to the
Corruption and Crime Commission and the Public Service
Commission as required under the relevant legislation. In
2017–18, one new notification of potential misconduct was
made to the PSC.

Disclosures and legal compliance

Four registered training organisations were contracted
to deliver publicly-funded training specifically to people
with disabilities. A total of 5,397 students with an
indicated disability commenced training.

Misconduct management

Significant issues

Contractors and agents have been advised of their
responsibilities in relation to procurement for the
regional labour market reviews.

During the reporting period, no breach claims were lodged
with the Department.

Performance

• Western Australian Group Training Program;

• including information about the Public Sector Code of
Ethics and the Department’s Code of conduct in the
staff induction program;

Our organisation

During 2017–18, the Department and its directorates
achieved the following:

The Department complies with Public Sector Standards and
the WA Public Sector Code of Ethics through its own Code
of Conduct. Breach of Standard claims are managed in
accordance with the Public Sector Management (Breaches
of Public Sector Standards) Regulations 2005.

The year at a glance

In accordance with the Disability Services Act 1993
(amended 2004) the Department has developed and
implemented a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP)
2017–2021. The DAIP specifies actions and responsibilities
for each directorate to improve access to facilities, services
and information for people with disability. The DAIP’s
progress is reported annually to ensure the Department
continues to provide an acceptable level of access.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards
and ethical codes

Contents

Public interest disclosure

The Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking)
Act 2004 makes it compulsory for people in child related
work to apply for a Working With Children Check. The
Department currently has 28 positions assessed as
requiring a Working With Children Check.

Our organisation

Working with children checks

The year at a glance

The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 facilitates the
disclosure of information in the public interest about
matters of wrongdoing, corruption or improper conduct
within the Western Australian public sector. The
Department has six fully trained Public Interest Disclosure
(PID) officers. There were no public interest disclosures
during 2017–18. The Department’s induction program
provides information on the PID legislation.

Criminal convictions screening
Performance

The Department’s Criminal Convictions Screening Policy
requires all employees to hold a National Police Certificate
which is valid for five years. In the 2017–18 year, 210
employees were screened for criminal convictions.

Record keeping

New staff are made aware of their record keeping
obligations and all staff must complete the records
awareness training, the content manager (CM) introduction
course and the associated online assessment before access
to CM is granted. During 2017–18, 49 Department staff
completed the TRIM/CM introductory course.

Disclosures and legal compliance

The Department uses the Electronic Document and
Records Management System Content Manager (formerly
TRIM) to manage physical and electronic records including
the management of the retention and disposal of such
records. In 2017–18, approximately 186,246 documents
were registered in Training Business Services TRIM and
148,122 documents in Corporate TRIM.

Significant issues

Under the State Records Act 2000, each government
agency is required to develop a record keeping plan (RKP).
The efficiency and effectiveness of the Department’s RKP
is evaluated regularly to ensure compliance to the Act.
The Department is working closely with the five TAFE
colleges to ensure their record keeping responsibilities are
adequately addressed.

Appendices
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The Western Australian Language Services Policy aims
to ensure that language is not a barrier to Government
services and programs. The Department focuses on those
business areas which deliver services directly to the
public. In the reporting period, translating and interpreting
services were provided for 14 students.

The Department ensured that substantive equality was
integrated into policies, workplaces and services provided
to and by the Department. The Substantive Equality
Framework and the Substantive Equality Policy continued
to be implemented in 2017–18. The Substantive Equality
Policy is reviewed annually.

Eight trained representatives operate across the
Department. A register of current representatives
is maintained.
The Department’s hazard identification process
is reported against quarterly and a database is
maintained.
The Department’s OSH Committee meets quarterly.
Workplace inspections are performed and recorded
across the Department biannually.

The Department endeavours to at all times comply with
the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 and provide
a safe and healthy work environment for employees,
contractors and visitors. In 2017–18 four safety and
health representatives were elected, or re-elected.
The Department completed 73 ergonomic workstation
assessments in 2017–18.

50 trained first aid officers and trained fire wardens
operate across the Department.

Occupational safety and health training

Occupational safety and health assessment
The minimum key OSH performance indicators to be
met by public sector agencies are set out in the Code of
Practice: Occupational Safety and Health in the WA Public
Sector, and the WA public sector agency requirements
to adopt these are outlined in the Public Sector
Commissioner’s Circular 2012–05.

A Health and Wellbeing Program operates across
the Department.
The Department conducted the annual review of its
Occupational Safety and Health Policy and Worker’s
Compensation and Injury Management Policy.
A flu vaccination program was offered in 2018 and
there was an increased take up from previous years.
All health and wellbeing activities are extensively
promoted through internal newsletter articles,
Corporate Leadership Group emails and posters
displayed in communal areas.

Disclosures and legal compliance

The Department has incorporated occupational safety
and health (OSH) awareness training into its mandatory
induction program. The Department mandates additional
comprehensive OSH training, including an online training
program for managers and supervisors.

82% of managers and supervisors are currently
trained in OSH.

Significant issues

An OSH register is maintained and a database is kept.

Performance

Occupational safety and health and
injury management

Our organisation

Substantive equality

PROGRESS 2017–18

The year at a glance

Language services policy

Appendices
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Unauthorised use of credit cards

To ensure best practice in the management of workers’
compensation claims the Department holds regular claim
review meetings with RiskCover. All workers’ compensation
claims are managed by RiskCover and the Department in
accordance with legislative requirements to minimise time
lost. In 2017–18 there were no new compensation claims and
no claims carried over from the previous reporting period.

Agencies are required to publish in their annual
report details of instances where a Western Australian
Government Purchasing Card (a ‘credit card’) was
utilised for personal use. In 2017–18, there were four
such instances.

ACTUAL RESULTS TARGET
2016–17 2017–18

COMMENT
ON RESULT

0

0

0

Lost time injury
and/or disease
incidence rate

0

0

0 or 10% There
reduction were no
injuries

Lost time injury
and/or disease
severity rate

0

0 or 10% There
reduction were no
injuries
There
were no
injuries

N/A

N/A

80%

(ii) within 26
weeks

N/A

N/A

100%

Percentage of
managers trained
in occupational
safety, health
and injury

88%

82%

Greater
than or
equal to
80%

Target
achieved

$37.10

Aggregate amount of personal use
expenditure settled by 30 June 2018

$219.80

Aggregate amount of personal use
expenditure outstanding at 30 June 2018

$0.00

Number of referrals for disciplinary action

Nil

Government Building Training Policy
Agencies must incorporate information pertaining to
government building contracts, as required by Premier’s
Circular 2015/02 Government Building Training Policy, in
their annual reports.
The Government Building Training Policy is administered by
the Department of Training and Workforce Development.
The Department, however, does not itself issue contracts
within the scope of the policy and as such is not required
to report on implementation.
Information on the administration of the Government
Building Training Policy can be found in the Performance
section of this report.

Disclosures and legal compliance

Percentage of
injured workers
returned to work
(i) within 13
weeks

0

Target
achieved

Aggregate amount of personal use
expenditure settled within 5 days

Significant issues

Number of
fatalities

$256.90

Performance

MEASURE

Aggregate amount of personal use
expenditure

Our organisation

The Department provides assistance to employees who
sustain an injury or illness in the course of their duties
and facilitates an early return to work where practicable.
The Department has an Injury Management and Workers’
Compensation Policy developed in accordance with the
requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury
Management Act 1981. The Department also provides
assistance to employees with non-compensable injuries or
illnesses to remain in the workplace where possible
or facilitate an early return to work. A comprehensive
Return to Work program is developed for each case under
medical supervision.

The year at a glance

Workers’ compensation

Appendices
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October 2017

Book Swap which raised over
$1400 for the Indigenous
Literacy Fund.

May 2018

Cultural walk around Lake
Herdsman to learn about the
significance of our location.

(National
Reconciliation
Week)

The Department proudly
sponsored a street banner
in support of National
Reconciliation Week which was
on display on Adelaide Terrace in
Perth from 25 May until 4 June.

Disclosures and legal compliance

The Department’s NAIDOC
celebration event was a
presentation on language by
Noongar woman and teacher
Sharon Gregory. The theme for
2017 was ‘Our languages matter’.

Significant issues

July 2017

Performance

The following events were organised
in 2017–18:

Our organisation

The current Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) covers
the period July 2017 to June 2019. Development and
implementation of the RAP are guided by the RAP
Steering Committee.

The year at a glance

The Department has a strong commitment to celebrating
Aboriginal culture and heritage, engaging respectfully with
Aboriginal partners, and continuing to work towards closing
the gap on Aboriginal disadvantage.

Appendices
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The year at a glance

Our organisation
Performance

Significant issues

Disclosures and legal compliance

Appendices
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The Vocational Education and Training Act 1996 is
administered by the Minister for Training and Workforce
Development with the assistance of the Department.

It provided a new legislative framework which allows for
greater flexibility and a more contemporary
training system.

Our organisation

The Training Legislation Amendment and Repeal Act 2008
came into operation on 10 June 2009. This legislation
amended the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996
and repealed the Industrial Training Act 1975.

The year at a glance

Administered legislation

Other key legislation

• Auditor General Act 2006
• Contaminated Sites Act 2003

Performance

In the performance of its functions the Department
complies with the following relevant written laws.

• Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
• Education Services for Overseas Students Act 2000
• Electoral Act 1907
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984
• Financial Management Act 2006

Significant issues

• Disability Services Act 1993

• Freedom of Information Act 1992
• Industrial Relations Act 1979
• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
• Public Sector Management Act 1994
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
• State Records Act 2000
• State Supply Commission Act 1991
• Student Identifiers Act 2014
• Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management
Act 1981
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• Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking)
Act 2004

Disclosures and legal compliance

• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

Contents

TAFE International WA
T: +618 9218 2100
E: admissions.tiwa@dtwd.wa.gov.au

The year at a glance

DEPARTMENT SERVICES

Migration Services

Apprenticeship Office
16 Parkland Road, Osborne Park
T: 13 19 54
E: apprenticeshipoffice@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Our organisation

T: +618 9224 6540
E: migration@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Muresk Institute

In the interim, for information about these services,
please contact:
The Department of Training and Workforce Development
T: 08 6551 5000
W: dtwd.wa.gov.au

Significant issues

The Department is in the process of transitioning its
career and workforce development services to Jobs and
Skills Centres, being progressively established across
Western Australia.

Performance

Muresk Road, Northam
T : 1300 994 031
E : muresk@dtwd.wa.gov.au

Disclosures and legal compliance
Appendices
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Aboriginal school-based training

TRIM

Total record information management

ATE

Aboriginal Training and Employment program

USI

Unique student identifier

CCC

Crime and Corruption Commission

VET

Vocational education and training

CISC

COAG Industry and Skills Council

COAG

Council of Australian Governments

WASMOL Western Australian skilled migration
occupation list

CSA

Civil Service Association

WDC

DAIP

Disability access and inclusion plan

DPA

Delivery and performance agreements

DTWD

Department of Training and Workforce
Development

EBT

Employment based training

ELICOS

English Language Intensive Course for Overseas
Students

FTE

Full time equivalent

GBT

Government Building Training Policy

GTO

Group Training Organisation

IBT

Institutional based training

ICT

Information and Communications Technology

JSC

Jobs and Skills Centre

MLCR

Module load completion rate

OQU

Overseas Qualifications Unit

OSH

Occupational safety and health

PID

Public interest disclosure

RKP

Record keeping plan

RPL

Recognition of prior learning

RTW

Return to work

SCH

Student curriculum hours

SPOL

State priority occupation list

SRC

State Records Commission

STAMP

State training asset management plan

STB

State Training Board

STP

State training provider

TAFE

Technical and further education
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Workforce development centre

CALENDAR YEAR: While most data in this report describe
the 2017–18 financial year, some data describe the 2017
calendar year. This is because most VET courses are
delivered by calendar year. Where possible, snapshots of
training activity as at 30 June 2018 are also provided, to
provide an indication of more recent activity.
COURSE ENROLMENTS: This measure is used in
preference to a head-count of students, because it
provides a more reliable measure, allowing the data to be
consistently analysed by variables such as delivery location
and funding source. Enrolments are considered valid once
some activity has been recorded which excludes cases
where students enrol but do not commence training.
MODULE LOAD COMPLETION RATE (MLCR): This
describes the extent to which clients complete the training
in which they enrol. Modules are the components from
which courses are constructed, and the module load is
the total student curriculum hours (see below) attributed
to a module. The MLCR is the proportion of module load
successfully completed out of the total commenced. This
measure is used in preference to qualification completions,
which may take several years to be reported (reducing
their usefulness for regular monitoring and reporting) and
because students may enrol with the intention of only
completing a few units, rather than a whole qualification.
STUDENT CURRICULUM HOURS (SCH): This measure
describes the agreed nominal value of hours associated
with a module or unit of competency. It is a fixed value (or
‘weighting’) and does not describe the actual hours that an
individual student spends in class or doing homework. SCH
is considered the most objective measure of VET effort as it
reflects the volume of training activity occurring.

Appendices

ASBT

Disclosures and legal compliance

TAFE International Western Australia

Significant issues

TIWA

Performance

Aboriginal Workforce Development Centre

Our organisation

AWDC

Contents

State priority qualifications/State priority courses
Those qualifications/courses which are eligible for an
entitlement (the guarantee of a subsidised place). This
group comprises apprenticeships and traineeships, priority
industry qualifications and the two priority foundation
skills courses, Course in Applied Vocational Study Skills and
Course in Underpinning Skills for Industry Qualifications.

Definitions
• Employed – this definition involves persons aged 15
years and over who meet one of several criteria. For the
exact definition visit the Australian Bureau of Statistics
website at abs.gov.au.
• Participation Rate – for any group, the labour force
expressed as a percentage of the civilian population
aged 15 years and over in the same group.

Those qualifications/courses eligible for an entitlement,
plus other foundation and equity courses where the
Government subsidises the majority of course costs (i.e. all
training other than general industry training).

• Skilled Occupation – persons employed in managerial,
professional or trades and technician level occupations
as identified by the Australian and New Zealand
Standard Classification of Occupations.

Population statistics

Labour market statistics
Source: ABS 6202.0 – Table 8 (June 2018),
Seasonally Adjusted.

Australian Bureau of Statistics – abs.gov.au

Significant issues

ABS 6291.0.55.003 – Datacube EQ08 (November 2018),
Four Quarter Moving Average of Original Data

• Net Overseas Migration – the net gain or loss of
population through immigration and emigration to and
from Australia. For more details visit the Australian
Bureau of Statistics website at abs.gov.au.

Performance

ABS 3101.0 – Table 55 (December 2017)
Australian Bureau of Statistics – abs.gov.au

• State Priority Occupations – occupations as identified
by the ANZSCO that are rated of the highest or high
State level priority through the annual State Priority
Occupation List (SPOL) process undertaken by the
Department. For more information on the SPOL visit
dtwd.wa.gov.au.

Our organisation

Broad priority training

• Employment to Population Ratio – for any group the
number of employed persons expressed as a percentage
of the civilian population in the same group.

The year at a glance

Training and labour market statistics
and definitions

Disclosures and legal compliance
Appendices
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APPRENTICESHIPS combine work with structured training in
traditional and technical trades.

STATE TRAINING ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN provides a
strategic asset plan for the State training sector, including the
TAFE colleges. It is primarily used to highlight infrastructure
priorities related to improving the quality and industry
relevance of training facilities for students and is used to
recommend new infrastructure funding proposals to the
State Government which enhance the training capacity of the
TAFE network.
TAFE INTERNATIONAL WESTERN AUSTRALIA (TIWA) is
responsible for the recruitment and admission of international
students studying at Western Australian TAFE colleges and
public schools. All international students applying to study
at a TAFE college must apply through TIWA. TIWA is also
responsible for the management and maintenance of a
system-wide international admissions database.
TRAINEESHIPS combine work and structured training in
non-trade related areas.

OVERSEAS QUALIFICATIONS UNIT provides free
comparative assessments of overseas qualifications against
Australian qualification levels.

TRAVEL AND ACCOMMODATION ALLOWANCE provides
financial assistance to apprentices and trainees required to
travel long distances to attend off the job training.

PARTICIPATION PROGRAM provides vocational training
programs to people within the general community who face
barriers in accessing mainstream training programs.

VET DELIVERED TO SECONDARY STUDENTS enabled
secondary students to undertake a nationally recognised
VET qualification while completing their Western Australian
Certificate of Education.
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VET QUALIFICATIONS REGISTER FOR SECONDARY
STUDENTS updated annually in collaboration with industry
training councils, provides industry advice on the suitability
of qualifications for school students, and informs the list
of qualifications eligible for Department of Training and
Workforce Development funding.

Appendices

PRE-APPRENTICESHIPS provide the opportunity for
students to gain introductory trade skills and a pathway into
an apprenticeship program (also available to students while
still at school). A pre-apprenticeship is a Certificate II program
that includes a mandatory work placement coordinated by
the training provider. It provides industry specific training,
combined with hands-on experience in a real workplace

Disclosures and legal compliance

GROUP TRAINING ORGANISATIONS employ apprentices
and trainees and place them with host employers, giving
businesses access to apprentices and trainees on a
rotational basis without having to commit to a full term. The
State funded Western Australian Group Training Program
maintained its commitment to Aboriginal people, at risk
students, people with disability, school-based, regional and
remote area apprentices and trainees.

STATE PRIORITY OCCUPATION LIST (SPOL) guides workforce
planning and development for Western Australia. The SPOL
includes those occupations considered a priority in Western
Australia and is produced in consultation with key stakeholders,
including the State’s Industry Training Council network.

Significant issues

GOVERNMENT BUILDING TRAINING (GBT) POLICY aims
to increase the number of apprentices and trainees in the
building and construction industry. The GBT Policy applies to
State Government building, construction and maintenance
contracts with an estimated labour value of $2 million and
over. Companies awarded these contracts have to meet
industry training benchmarks. This policy was reviewed to
develop the proposed Priority Start Policy.

SCHOOL-BASED APPRENTICESHIPS AND TRAINEESHIPS
are available to full time students with achievements
contributing towards the Western Australian Certificate
of Education.

Performance

EXPANDING CAREER OPTIONS FOR WOMEN
SCHOLARSHIPS have been awarded to encourage women to
take up training in non-traditional industries, where women
currently make up less than 25% of the total workforce.
Scholarships can help with the costs associated with training,
including fees, resources, accommodation and childcare.

making participants more competitive when applying for
an apprenticeship.

Our organisation

ABORIGINAL SCHOOL-BASED TRAINING PROGRAM
aims to increase the numbers of young Aboriginal students
undertaking training and provides an opportunity for Aboriginal
students in years 10, 11 and 12 to start training while at school
to gain a qualification or sustainable employment.

